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2013 / 2014 

Growing 
Customers

2013 / 2014 

Growing 
Investment

We’re growing our customer base across New Zealand.  
We’re now a true multi-utility service provider. Our new brand  

strategy and visual identity provide the platform to attract new  
customers and retain existing customers. 

Our Customer Experience teams have embraced new ways  
of working, helping more customers in more  

ways than ever before.

We’re investing for growth on both sides of the Tasman.  
Our Snowtown Wind Farm is soon to be completed and will be 

Australia’s second largest wind farm. In New Zealand, we continue 
to seek ways to maximise value from our assets, with water from  

Lake Coleridge now powering both turbines and irrigators.
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For almost a century, Trustpower was an electricity 
generator and retailer. So our strategic decision to 
reposition Trustpower as a multi-product utilities provider 
has been the catalyst for significant change. 

The most visible change to date has been Trustpower’s 
new brand identity, launched in November 2013 — the 
modern identity was just one element of the process of 
rebranding.

Trustpower is moving into a period of high growth, with a 
significant increase in customer numbers forecast for the 
next three years. Our unique multi-product offering is a 
key to achieving our growth targets, so a new brand 
strategy that supports the multi-product positioning  
was required. 

The new brand strategy provides the platform on which 
to build existing and new market segments, and retain 
existing customers. It will ensure we clearly differentiate 
Trustpower as the preferred multi-utility service provider 
in our target markets.

The process started in 2012, with development of a brand 
strategy to encompass the future direction of the 
company as a multi-utility service provider. 

We created a brand blueprint to define what we want our 
brand to say, do and be. The key characteristics that 
define the Trustpower brand were identified as Care and 
Integration. Care, about our customers and communities; 
and Integration, because we are the only New Zealand 
company that can supply a bundle of key household 
utilities including electricity, gas, phone and broadband. 
From these key characteristics the new strapline Better 
Together was developed, to express our core promise.

Better Together
Our new brand positions us for a period of rapid growth. 

customers’ first new-look bill. The mailing introduced the 
Better Together positioning and highlighted our multi-
product services. Customers were offered incentives  
to take up additional products and benefit from new 
value propositions. 

Our brand strategy is being implemented in all 
Trustpower marketing activities, including this year’s 
high profile campaign in Auckland. We’re proud to have a 
unique market position and a fantastic visual identity 
that clearly defines who we are, sets us apart from our 
competitors, and will help us to achieve our  
growth aspirations. 

Once the brand blueprint was developed, we needed to 
create a new look that expresses our brand strategy. The 
simple graphic device of colourful overlapping circles 
suggests energy, integration and togetherness. 

The new brand positioning and visual identity were 
launched to over 200,000 customers in mailings sent 
over four weeks in November 2013, timed to precede 
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Who We Are Achievements 
2014We own 634MW of hydro and wind generation spread throughout  

New Zealand as well as the 100MW Snowtown Wind Farm in South Australia. 

These assets produce an average of 2,800GWh per  
year. Construction of the 270MW second stage of 
the Snowtown Wind Farm is due to be completed by 
September 2014. Once fully comissioned it will add 
another 985GWh of annual output.

We supply electricity to around 224,000 customers, 
gas to 14,000 customers and provide 54,000 
telecommunications services to 31,000 customers 
throughout New Zealand. We have 572 full time 
equivalent employees working throughout  
New Zealand and three employees in Adelaide.  
Around 65% of New Zealand employees are based 
in our Tauranga head office.

Generation Schemes

Bream Bay 1  
Kaimai 2

Matahina 3

Wheao/Flaxy 4

Hinemaiaia 5 

Esk 6 

Mangorei 7

Motukawa 8

Patea 9

Tararua Wind Farm 10

Cobb 11

Waihopai 12

Argyle/Wairau 13

Arnold 14

Kumara/Dillmans/Duffers 15

Kaniere Forks/McKays Creek 16

Coleridge 17

Highbank 18

Montalto 19

Wahapo 20

Paerau/Patearoa 21

Waipori/Deep Stream 22

Mahinerangi Wind Farm 23  
Snowtown Wind Farm 24  

Retail Customers

Far North 1
Auckland 2
Counties 3
Waikato/Waipa 4
Southern Thames Valley 5
Tauranga/Rotorua/Taupo 6
Gisborne 7
Wairoa 8
Hawke’s Bay 9
New Plymouth/Taranaki 10
Whanganui 11
Manawatu 12
Wellington 13
Marlborough 14
Tasman/Nelson 15
Buller 16
West Coast 17
Rangiora 18
Christchurch 19
Ashburton 20
Timaru 21
Oamaru 22
Central Otago 23
Otago 24
Dunedin 25
Invercargill/Southland 26

Refresh of the Trustpower brand  
and completion of a number of  

systems enhancements to enable  
rollout of multi product  

retailing strategy.

Acquisition of the electricity and gas  
customers of Energy Direct NZ Limited providing  

a solid foundation for entry into gas retailing.

Construction of the  
A$439 million 270MW  

Snowtown Stage 2 Wind Farm 
development is well advanced  

and on track to be  
fully commissioned by  

September 2014.

Record year of  
generation production  

at Snowtown Stage  
1 Wind Farm.

Strategic Focus – 2015 Financial Year
Completion of Snowtown Stage 2 Wind Farm to schedule and budget.

Progress irrigation opportunities in Canterbury.

Progress development approval applications for 1,380MW of wind  
investment in Victoria, New South Wales and South Australia.

Metropolitan market targeting to grow multi product customers.

Decision on deployment of smart metering technology.
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Bruce Harker / Chairman 
Directors’ Report

Financial Performance
Trustpower has continued to make good progress on its 
growth agenda over the 2014 financial year. The 270MW 
Snowtown Stage 2 Wind Farm in South Australia is well 
advanced and tracking to plan. Trustpower acquired the 
electricity and gas customers of Energy Direct NZ Limited 
(EDNZ) enabling an entry in to gas trading and retailing. 
The Company has undertaken a major rebranding 
exercise and completed a number of important systems 
enhancements to support its multi-product growth 
strategy and is now actively acquiring customers across 
New Zealand.

Trustpower’s consolidated profit after tax was $115.1 
million for the year ended 31 March 2014. This represents 
a decrease of 7% compared with $123.4 million for the 
same period last year. 

Underlying earnings1 after tax excluding fair value 
movements on financial instruments and impairment 
charges were $108.5 million compared with $127.3 million 
in the previous year, a decrease of 15%.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, 
fair value movements of financial instruments and asset 
impairments (EBITDAF)2 were $277.4 million, compared 
with $294.8 million achieved in the previous year 
representing a decrease of 6%. 

The weaker Group operating performance was driven by 
lower New Zealand generation production and a 
challenging retail environment, where pressure on 
margins and lower customer demand was experienced. 
Also, the strength of NZD/AUD exchange rate during the 
last 12 months negatively impacted on Australian based 
earnings when translated to NZ dollars.

Operating revenue was 1% higher than prior period at 
$811.7 million. Operating expenses including energy and 
line costs increased 5% to $534.3 million driven by higher 
generation production costs, employee related expenses 
and increased marketing spend related to Trustpower’s 
rebranding.

Total electricity volume sold by the Company in  
New Zealand through mass market retailing and time of 
use sales was 3,512GWh, compared with 3,683GWh in the 
year to 31 March 2013, a decrease of 5%. The majority of 
the decrease related to lower time of use sales. This 
market was very challenging during the reporting period 
as competitors looked to place surplus product at low 
margins. 

Trustpower achieved an increase in mass market sales 
volume in the second half of the 2014 financial year 
versus the prior period as the impact of the EDNZ 
acquisition and the Company’s own customer acquisition 
activity began to flow through. 

The Group’s New Zealand generation production of 
2,209GWh was down 121GWh (5%) on the previous year 
and 9% below the expected long term average. Total 

hydro production was down 156GWh (9%) almost entirely 
due to low North Island hydro production which was 21% 
down on prior year. Trustpower actively used its South 
Island storage lakes to support generation output. New 
Zealand wind production ended 35GWh higher than the 
previous year but was down 5% on expected long term 
average. 

The Snowtown Stage 1 Wind Farm in South Australia 
produced a record production result of 397GWh which 
was 11GWh (3%) higher than the previous year and 3% 
above expected long term average. Early commissioned 
wind turbines from Snowtown Stage 2 Wind Farm 
contributed 139 GWh to total Australian wind production.

Underlying after tax return on average equity, adjusted 
for fair value movements on financial instruments and 
impairment charges, was 7.1% (8.2 % in the previous year). 

Group operating cash flow remained solid at $256.8 
million for the 2014 financial year versus $241.1 million 
in the prior year.

Notes: 
1.  Underlying Earnings is a non GAAP (Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles) financial measure. Trustpower 
believes that this measure is an important additional 
financial measure to disclose as it excludes movements in 
the fair value of financial instruments which can be volatile 
year to year depending on movement in long term interest 
rates and or electricity futures prices. Also excluded in this 
measure are items considered to be one off and not related 
to core business such as changes to the company tax rate 
or impairment of generation assets. 

  A full reconciliation between profit after tax attributable to 
the shareholders of the Company and underlying earnings 
after tax is provided in Note 3 to 
the consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

2.  EBITDAF is a non GAAP 
financial measure but is 
commonly used within the 
electricity industry as a 
measure of performance 
as it shows the level of 
earnings before impact 
of gearing levels and 
non-cash charges such 
as depreciation and 
amortisation. Market 
analysts use this measure 
as an input into company 
valuation and valuation 
metrics used to assess 
relative value and 
performance of 
companies across 
the sector.

Financial Position 
and Captial Structure
Trustpower’s balance sheet as at 31 March 2014 remains 
in good shape, with shareholders’ funds of over $1.5 
billion and total assets of approximately $3.1 billion.

Net debt (including subordinated bonds) to net debt plus 
equity increased to 43% from 37% at prior year end, as a 
result of increased borrowing levels to finance the 
ongoing development of the Snowtown Stage 2 Wind 
Farm. Trustpower continues to maintain conservative 
levels of committed credit facilities. As at 31 March 2014 
Group net debt was $1.14 billion. Trustpower has recently 
accepted offers to refinance A$220 million of bank 
facilities due to mature in September 2014. These 
facilities will be extended in two tranches to mature in 
July 2017 and July 2019. 

$54.5 million of subordinated bonds maturing in March 
2014 were repaid from available bank facilities at maturity.

Following the completion of these financing activities the 
Group will have approximately NZD equivalent 1.4 billion 
of committed debt facilities and around NZD equivalent 
173 million of undrawn debt facilities which is aligned 
with completing the construction of the Snowtown Stage 
2 Wind Farm and the Group’s ongoing operational 
liquidity requirements.

Purchases of Trustpower’s shares have continued under 
the Company’s share buyback programme for which a 
three year extension was approved at the Annual 
Meeting in July 2011. The approval allows the Company to 
purchase up to 5 million shares over a three year period. 
Close to 1.1 million shares were purchased at an average 
cost of $6.89 during the year to 31 March 2014. It is 
intended that approval will be sought at the Annual 
Meeting for the share buyback programme to be 
extended for a further three years on similar terms.

Generation Development
Construction of the 270MW Snowtown Stage 2 Wind 
Farm in South Australia is progressing well and is on track 
in terms of budget and schedule. As at 20 May 2014, 87 
of 90 3MW turbines have been erected, 71 turbines are 
generating and 66 turbines have been issued with takeover 
certificates. The project is on target to be completed by 
September 2014, two months ahead of original schedule.

Trustpower is actively progressing other wind 
development options in Australia with the aim of 
developing further wind projects to help meet the 
Australian Renewable Energy Target over the course of 
the next five years. Development approval applications 
are in progress for up to 320MW at the Dundonnell wind 
project in Western Victoria, up to 270MW for the Palmer 
wind project in South Australia, up to 300MW for the Rye 
Park wind project and up to 500MW for another wind 
project, both in New South Wales. These projects are 
expected to be well positioned should the outcome of 
the current review of the Renewable Energy Target 
regime by the Australian Government confirm an ongoing 
framework that is supportive of further renewable energy 
investment in Australia.

Given the current generation oversupply situation in New 
Zealand, Trustpower is looking to maintain its existing 
520MW of consented wind and hydro development 
options where this can be achieved within reasonable 

cost parameters. Trustpower will continue to look at small 
high return enhancement options on existing hydro 
generation assets.

Following Government approval of the variation to the 
Rakaia River Water Conservation Order, Trustpower is 
now in a position to store and distribute consented water 
from Lake Coleridge to improve irrigation reliability to 
various irrigator groups. Trustpower has in place long 
term storage and release agreements with Barrhill 
Chertsey Irrigation Limited and Central Plains Water 
Limited. It is expected that these initial agreements will 
result in an additional irrigation supply area in mid 
Canterbury of around 40,000ha. 

Trustpower is continuing to work with these Canterbury 
irrigation groups to develop a regional infrastructure 
solution that optimises the water storage capacity of 
Lake Coleridge that could potentially enable the irrigation 
supply area in the region to be expanded by a further 
80,000 ha.

During the year, Trustpower signed a memorandum of 
understanding with Hawkes Bay Regional Investment 
Company and Ngai Tahu Capital Limited to undertake due 
diligence and capital funding discussions with respect to 
the Ruataniwha Water Storage Scheme in the Hawkes 
Bay. Following due diligence, Trustpower decided to 
withdraw from the project and has terminated the 
memorandum of understanding. Trustpower’s view is that 
the expected risk and return profile for this project would 
not meet its required thresholds.

Retailing and Customers
Total energy accounts increased to 238,000 at March 
2014 (including 14,000 gas accounts) from 206,000 as 
at 31 March 2013 (nil gas accounts). While the retail 
market remained highly competitive throughout the year, 
Trustpower continued to experience lower levels of 
customer churn than the market overall. 

Trustpower continued to achieve strong growth in 
retailing of telecommunication products with an increase 
in services provided from 43,000 to 54,000, up 26% on 
prior year. Ultra-fast broadband services are now being 
offered in a number of markets as ultra-fast fibre 
infrastructure is rolled out.

Trustpower undertook a major rebranding exercise during 
the year to provide a fresh look to support the growth of 
its multi utility product and service offering. Trustpower 
has established a position as New Zealand’s leading 
multi-utility retailer, broadening its product suite to 
include power, ultra-fast broadband and phone services, 
natural gas and bottled LPG. 

Trustpower has for some time been reviewing the 
potential deployment of smart meters to its residential 
customer base including the technology options and 
business models available to enable a successful 
transition to be made. The Company is currently 
negotiating with a preferred supplier and expects to 
finalise an agreement over the next few months.

Regulatory Issues
Last year, it was noted that there had been two 
significant events that had given Trustpower cause to 
reflect on the level of regulatory risk that the Group is 
exposed to in New Zealand. The first of these was the 
Electricity Authority’s proposals to significantly revise the 

  BRUCE HARKER 
  Chairman
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current transmission pricing framework. The second was 
the Labour/Green proposal to abolish the current 
competitive wholesale and retail market model and 
replace it with a single buyer model.

Over the last 12 months the Electricity Authority has 
released further working papers on its transmission 
pricing proposals and received further submissions from 
industry participants and interested parties, the vast 
majority of which were against these proposals. At this 
stage it remains unclear whether the Electricity Authority 
will push ahead with its rearrangement proposals and a 
final decision is not expected to be made until 2015.

The Labour and Green Parties have released very little 
further detail on the single buyer model and are unlikely to 
do so ahead of the General Election in September this year.

While the regulatory overhang of these issues continues 
Trustpower’s views have not changed. In short, Trustpower 
believes that significant policy changes need to be 
carefully managed. Trustpower and the electricity industry 
need a stable and workable regulatory environment to 
operate in. New Zealand can ill afford dramatic regulatory 
and policy interventions that cast aside the framework on 
which investors have made long term investment decisions.

Sustainability 
Trustpower is firmly committed to sustainability 
principles, and continues to make good progress in terms 
of stretching and achieving its sustainability goals. 
Trustpower recognises that a key determinant of our 
future success relies on our ability to maintain the trust 
of customers, other stakeholders and importantly the 
communities in which we operate.

There continues to be a strong focus on health and 
safety monitoring and performance across the Group. 
Good progress has been made with the Great Safety 
Performance initiative but there is opportunity for further 
improvement gains to be made.

Trustpower’s approach to its environmental obligations 
and responsibilities is reflected in the detailed systems 
and focussed resources it has put in place to manage 
compliance with an ever increasing number of resource 
consents conditions.

Pleasingly, Trustpower continues to report only a very 
small number of minor non-compliance events, and again 
in the past year, none of these events have resulted in 
any significant adverse environmental consequences. Our 
target is zero non compliance events and we continue to 
ensure our culture and systems reflect this goal.

Trustpower has a diversity policy in place and disclosure of 
Trustpower’s gender breakdown across its business can be 
found in the sustainability section of this report.

The Board is satisfied that the Company is recognising 
the objectives of its diversity policy in all its decision making.

Trustpower has continued its focus away from regional 
event type sponsorship, towards more enduring long term 
initiatives that build and sustain relationships and are of 
greater long term benefit to the wider communities in 
regions where it operates.

This has seen further growth in Trustpower’s Community 
Awards programme, particularly in terms of participation 
by community organisations. Trustpower’s Youth Spirit 
Award programme has enabled us to engage with and 

recognise a large number of outstanding young people 
who will go on to be future leaders in their communities. 
Trustpower now has 24 Community and Youth Spirit 
Award programmes, all in partnership with local councils, 
covering 26 regions.

Trustpower’s Lend a Hand Foundation, run in partnership 
with Rotary Clubs and local business supporters in 
regions in New Zealand, and another, in partnership with 
the Lions Club of Snowtown, South Australia, continues 
to provide a “hand-up”, as distinct from a “hand-out”, to 
needy individuals, families and community organisations. 

Nationally, Trustpower has continued its support of 
“Elgregoe”, magician Greg Britt (NZOM) and his wife Sue, 
with a magic-based and values-focussed anti-bullying 
programme delivered to primary and intermediate schools 
from the Far North to Southland. Trustpower’s 
sponsorship, taking the form of a monetary contribution, 
the supply of resources and the provision of a van 
complete with fleet card, has meant this programme has 
been able to be offered to many smaller schools which 
would normally be regarded as being “off the beaten 
track”, in addition to those in the larger centres. A record 
number of schools and students benefited from this 
programme in the past year.

Our long standing approach to community engagement 
and support mirrors the Company’s approach to 
customers, with a strong relationship focus. Our approach 
to community engagement may be different from the 
corporate norm, but the worth of this approach has been 
proven in terms of the well-being of communities in 
which Trustpower operates and the quality of the 
relationships it has with these communities.

Directors
In accordance with the Company’s constitution, Mr R H 
Aitken and Mr MJ Cooney will retire at the 2014 Annual 
Meeting and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers has indicated its willingness to 
continue in office.

Dividend
The Directors are pleased to announce a final dividend of 
20 cents per share, partially imputed to 12 cents per 
share, payable 13 June 2014 (record date of 30 May 2014). 
This together with an interim dividend of 20 cents per 
share, provides a total pay-out of 40 cents per share for 
the 2014 financial year, in line with the prior year.

Outlook
Despite the current challenging New Zealand electricity 
environment which includes intense retail competition, 
an oversupplied generation market and regulatory 
uncertainty, the outlook for the Group is starting to look 
more promising and the Board is confident that 
Trustpower will regain earnings momentum in FY2015 as 
the Snowtown Stage 2 Wind Farm is completed. 

 

 
 
BJ HARKER 
CHAIRMAN
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agreement with Barhill Chertsey Irrigation. Subsequently, 
we installed a sixth pump at Highbank Power Station to 
meet potential water demand.

Our focus is on working collaboratively with the parties in 
the Canterbury region to ensure the benefits of storage 
for irrigation are realised.

Australia
Despite the uncertainty created by the newly elected 
Coalition Government review of the Renewable Energy 
Target, our focus in Australia has been to successfully 
execute the Snowtown Stage 2 project and further 
strengthen the pipeline of future projects.

Snowtown Stage 2 is well advanced achieving 
synchronisation of the first turbine in September 2013 
and now having 71 turbines connected to the grid. The 
project remains under budget and ahead of schedule 
with completion expected in September 2014.

During the year we have made significant progress on our 
project pipeline. The Company now has four potential 
projects ready to progress through the development 
approval process.

These projects in South Australia, Victoria and New 
South Wales have the potential to provide up to 
1,400 MW of renewable energy capacity. 

Regulatory Landscape
In both New Zealand and Australia there is uncertainty 
about the political and regulatory landscape. Our goal is 
to reduce the risks of uncertainty by focussing on 
sustainable generation projects and high quality, high 
value services for our customers.

In New Zealand the general election in September will set 
the scene for the next three years. A Labour/Green led 
government will result in a more interventionist 
approach. The dismantling of over twenty years of market 
reform, in my opinion, puts at risk the cost 
competitiveness, sustainability and reliability of the 
electricity system.

The continuation of a National led government will see a 
continued drive for the Electricity Authority to focus on 
pro-competitive regulation for the benefit of consumers.

Trustpower has participated actively in the transmission 
pricing debate, submitting on all of the consultation and 
working papers. It remains our view that the Electricity 
Authority’s proposals do not benefit consumers and 
impose unnecessary costs.

The Company believes further development of the 
wholesale market by the Electricity Authority and the 
introduction of new products and initiatives that manage 
price risk support strong and vibrant retail competition.

People, Culture and Community
Our success at Trustpower is driven by the commitment 
of our people. Our staff have continued to rise to the 
challenges and opportunities and it is particularly 
pleasing to see our engagement survey consolidate the 
gains of last year.

We continue to believe that future success will be 
achieved by developing the capability of our staff. 
Building on the success of our talent management 
programme we have commenced a leadership 

development initiative to ensure we have a strong 
emerging leadership group.

During the year the decision was made to re-locate our 
corporate office to the Tauranga CBD – bringing all our 
Tauranga based staff together under one roof. This new 
building will be designed to provide an environment that 
supports a collaborative and performance driven culture.

This year our Community Awards have expanded to 
include the Whanganui region. This meant that we had 
26 regions represented at the National Awards in 
Invercargill, the supreme award winners were the 
Mistletoe Bay Trust from the Marlborough District. The 
Trust developed an interactive eco village and 
educational campsite on an area of unloved Department 
of Conversation land. This gives thousands of children 
the opportunity to experience the great Kiwi outdoors 
every year.

Looking Ahead
In an environment of competition and regulatory 
uncertainty Trustpower has distinctive strategies and 
engaged people to deliver for shareholders and 
customers.

Our strategies differentiate Trustpower from our  
competitors, we believe we are well positioned for  
the future.

 

Vince Hawksworth / Chief Executive 
Chief Executive’s Report
Introduction
The 2014 financial year was a transformative one for 
Trustpower. The launch of our new brand was a crucial 
step in our aspiration to be a multi-product utility retail 
company. Our acquisition of the assets of Energy Direct 
NZ Limited (EDNZ) gives the Company immediate scale in 
the gas retail market and combined with the brand 
launch creates momentum towards our goal of being a 
leading supplier of utilities at home and beyond our 
shores.

The substantial progress on construction of the 
Snowtown Stage 2 Wind Farm illustrates the ability of 
Trustpower to execute our Australian renewable energy 
strategy. The Company also continued development of 
our irrigation arrangements that make use of Lake 
Coleridge for storage. These initiatives when combined 
are positive for sustainable shareholder returns.

This was also a year of significant challenge. The 
electricity industry continues to be a target of political 
debate. In New Zealand this has revolved around the 
Labour Party and New Zealand Greens industry 
restructuring proposals. In Australia the focus has been 
on the newly elected coalition government’s carbon tax 
repeal and renewable energy target (RET) review. Both of 
these create market uncertainty.

However, Trustpower remains committed to seeking 
opportunities to utilise our skills in renewable energy and 
irrigation deployment to meet the challenges of 
sustainable energy and food production. 

Health and Safety
The health and safety of our staff, contractors and the 
general public is paramount at Trustpower. We are 
focussed on maintaining our commitment and meeting 
our obligations under the Health and Safety Reform Bill. 
It is clear that the new legislation will require the highest 
standards of governance and that management and staff 
will need to increase engagement and ensure that 
together we deliver meaningful improvements in health 
and safety in the work place. 

Trustpower has used a high engagement safety model for 
a number of years and this is reinforced by our ongoing 
commitment to the Great Safety Performance (GSP) 
programme. The most recent GSP Survey results illustrate 
that our staff and leaders are fully engaged with our “no 
harm” vision. However, we still have incidents and there 
were 6 lost time injuries, 49 first aid and medical 
treatment injuries and 68 near miss non injury accidents.

Increasing Brand and Customer Value
The development of our new brand presence is 
consistent with our vision to be a leading supplier of 
utilities at home and beyond our shores. The brand brings 
together our electricity, gas, broadband and phone 
offerings. Our goal is to increase the number of 
customers that have bundled product offerings and enjoy 

our great Kiwi service.

Our acquisition of EDNZ has been a spring board for 
multi-product growth. Electricity customers have 
increased by 8.7% to 224,000, telecommunications 
service provision has increased by 25% to over 54,000 
services and gas customers have reached 14,000.

The success of the Trustpower brand and growth in 
future years will be based on our ability to innovate and 
provide customer value in ways that are distinctive and 
different to our competitors.

To achieve this we will focus our effort on attracting new 
customers, improving the customer experience and 
retaining our loyal customers.

Trustpower continues to have lower levels of customer 
churn than our competitors in the electricity market.

New Zealand Generation
During the year we completed construction of the 3.8MW 
Esk Hydro scheme. The scheme consists of two power 
stations and is expected to produce 15 GWh per year with 
minimal environmental impact.

Trustpower continues to hold wind and hydro generation 
options, however the current supply and demand outlook 
indicates it may be five years or more before New Zealand 
requires new generation. We will continue to review 
these options for economic viability.

We are focused on existing asset enhancement that will 
increase efficiency and value in the market. This includes 
optimisation of the hydro resource and improving the ability 
of our assets to target higher price periods in the market.

Our generation assets have performed well; we started 
our hydro machines 26,798 times (28,154 FY2013) with 
only 75 failed starts (72 FY2013). Our machines tripped in 
service 179 times resulting in one trip per 1,877 running 
hours, better than our target of less than one trip per 
1,000 running hours.

Trustpower has more than 4,000 resource consent 
conditions that govern the operation of our assets. It is 
disappointing to report that we had four relatively minor 
non-compliances. One of these has resulted in an 
infringement notice. We are conducting a review of our 
monitoring systems to minimise the risk of future 
non-compliance. 

Irrigation
During the year Trustpower participated in the 
Ruataniwha Water Storage Scheme process (RWSS). 
RWSS has the potential to increase land productivity in 
Hawkes Bay and Trustpower committed significant 
resources to the project. However, the Company chose to 
withdraw from the project as we were unable to meet our 
risk and return criteria.

During the year we continued to progress the use of Lake 
Coleridge for irrigation. We completed arrangements with 
Central Plains Water having previously reached an 

VINCE HAWKSWORTH 
Chief Executive
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Trustpower is committed to a talent management  
and development programme that is best practice.  
The programme includes identifying key staff  
members and giving them opportunities to build their 
leadership skills as part of an overall development plan.

In 2013, Kevin Palmer and Paul Bacon were given the 
opportunity to attend the University of Waikato L3 
post-graduate leadership development programme.  
As Trustpower’s Financial Controller, Kevin is responsible 
for managing our finance and treasury functions.  
Paul is our Technology Strategy and Services Manager, 
responsible for setting our technology direction, and  
for managing our technology portfolio.

The L3 programme enables experienced executives  
to grow their leadership skills, through a combination  
of academic study and the application of learnings  
in a practical environment. Focus areas are personal  
leadership, strategic leadership and the managing  
of organisational change. 

A practical project ran the full length of the L3  
programme — as their subject, Kevin and Paul selected 
the merger of Energy Direct NZ. Whanganui-based  
Energy Direct NZ is an electricity and gas retailer  
with approximately 20,000 customers: Trustpower  
acquired the business in May 2013. 

Taking ownership of the merger was a great chance  
for Kevin and Paul to apply leadership learnings from  
the L3, and to broaden their understanding of the retail  
business. The project went very well, achieving the  
objectives envisaged by the Trustpower executive.

Kevin and Paul found the experience invaluable,  
helping them to grow their capabilities and prepare  
for new challenges.

Leadership Development  

Best Practice
Kevin Palmer and Paul Bacon were given the opportunity  

to develop their leadership skills in a programme that included  
the merger of Energy Direct NZ.

Leadership Team

Vince Hawksworth
C.ENG, MBA

Chief Executive

Chris O’Hara
BAgrSc, Dip. Bus

General Manager Commercial Operations

Deion Campbell
BE(ELECT, Hons), ME(MGMT), CPEng, MIPENZ, MinstD

General Manager Generation

Robert Farron
BBS, CA, MinstD

Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary

Simon Clarke
BA/LLB MinstD

General Manager Business 
Solutions & Technology

Karen Boyte
BBS, MBS(Hons), MHRINZ, MInstD

General Manager People & Culture

Craig Neustroski
BE(ELECT), Dip. Bus

General Manager Trading

Clayton Delmarter
BSC (Tech)

General Manager Generation (Acting)

Peter Calderwood
BE(Hons), ME, MIPENZ

General Manager Strategy & Growth

Kevin, “The programme and the Energy Direct merger 
were very challenging but I found it incredibly useful. I 
feel it has created the platform I need to take on new 

challenges and further develop my career.”

As Paul said, “The L3 programme  
has given me new insight into my leadership approach 

and a much broader understanding of the  
Trustpower business”.

(L) PAUL BACON 
Technology Strategy 

and Service Manager

(R) KEVIN PALMER 
Financial Controller
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“Often when companies 
say ‘we have enabled our staff 

to take health and safety seriously’, 
in reality they have simply told staff to 

take health and safety seriously. The difference 
at Trustpower is that we are trusted to make 
improvements to our own health, safety and 

wellbeing. Trustpower really does care.” 
— Trustpower employee

Health & Safety
 

Trustpower’s front line staff take the lead in driving our Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing programme.

The daily work of Trustpower’s Generation and Metering 
teams involves changing and challenging environments 
— key risks include vehicle accidents and dog attacks. So 
with safety in mind, since 2010, the two teams have 
embraced Trustpower’s Great Safety Performance (GSP) 
programme.

This crucial programme gives staff the opportunity to 
help determine what happens to support health, safety 
and wellbeing within their teams.

Each year, all staff in the teams complete a survey 
(Generation completed its fourth survey in May 2014; 
Metering completed its second survey in June 2013). The 
survey provides direct feedback about health, safety and 
wellbeing — as a company, as teams, and as individuals. 
It’s followed up with team workshops, resulting in a list of 
suggested improvements. 

Through GSP, staff can present their thoughts directly to 
Trustpower’s Chief Executive, and know required 
improvements will happen. Since the programme was 
launched, there have been over 400 suggestions for 
improvements. Over half are now in place. 

GSP has heightened awareness of safety across the 
Company, with renewed focus on the processes, support 
structures and general requirements to keep everyone 
— staff and contractors — safe. It’s particularly pleasing 
to note the level of dialogue at all levels of the 
organisation, particularly at the front line, where there 
are more significant risks.

GSP is not just about listing problems to fix. It identifies 
areas of opportunity for improvements, across four main 
areas: helping to ensure all individuals know what to do, 
are able to do it; are equipped to do it, and want to do it. 

One key initiative in the Generation team was the 
introduction of the Occupational Health & Safety 
Incident Template, to report any incident. This has seen 
the level of reporting increase significantly.

The Metering team has introduced emergency locator 
beacons for staff working in isolated locations. These 
enable individuals to indicate that they are okay; or need 
help; or need emergency care. The beacons are 
monitored by our Operations Centre 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week.

As for vehicle accidents and dog attacks, field staff now 
do preventative training on 4WD driving, while Meter 
Readers do training on how to deal with dogs.

Through GSP, our Health, Safety and Wellbeing 
programme is increasingly being driven by the people 

in the front line: our staff are truly being 
empowered to be safe.

DAVE CRONSHAW 
Health and Safety 

Manager
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Snowtown Wind Farm’s Stage 2 is due to be completed 
in September 2014, on-budget and ahead of schedule. 
When fully commissioned, the wind farm will be the 
largest in South Australia, and the second largest 
in Australia. 

Work on Stage 2 has advanced steadily through the 2014 
financial year, a reflection of Trustpower’s emphasis on 
positive teamwork, planning, and focus on results. Our 
relationships with the local stakeholders and community 
have continued to go from strength to strength. 

In the wider picture, Snowtown Wind Farm has  
cemented Trustpower as a reliable and respected  
developer and producer of renewable electricity in the 
Australian energy market. The project has resulted in 
further diversification of our asset mix, from both a 
technical (hydro, wind, irrigation) and geographical (New 
Zealand and Australia) perspective.

When fully operational, Stages 1 and 2 will produce 
enough electricity for over 230,000 South Australian 
homes (installed capacity of 371MW). Individually, Stage 1 
produces 368GWh per annum (post construction of 
Stage 2); Stage 2 will produce an additional 985GWh per 
annum. 

Such scale represents an important contribution towards 
Australia’s clean energy commitment. The wind farm will 
offset 1,045,000 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions per 
annum (Stage 1: 345,000 tonnes; Stage 2: 700,000 
tonnes). That’s the equivalent of removing around 
225,000 cars from the road.

The strong relationships we’ve shared with landowners 
and local community groups have been fundamental to 
the project’s success. Trustpower, Siemens Limited and 
local contractors have forged numerous links with the 
local community, both on and off the project site. Our 
ongoing Lend a Hand Foundation initiative is now also 
supported by Siemens. Local club and community 
sponsorships, native vegetation planting and cultural 
heritage initiatives, as well as coordination with the 
County Fire Service have all enabled us to gain a genuine 

understanding of the local community and how we can 
work alongside them. 

That degree of mutual respect and connection is  
refleced in the fact that, for both stages, there were no 
objections from the local community to our development 
approval applications. This bond has resulted in the  
local community being strong advocates for both the  
Snowtown project and Trustpower’s other wind farm 
opportunities throughout the state. 

The project has provided a major boost to the local and 
regional economy. To date, the equivalent of 160 full time 
employees have been working on Stage 2. Our estimated 
Stage 2 spend (over the 2 year construction period) 
within the South Australian economy is AU$85M, out of a 
AU$440M project budget. On completion, Stage 2 will 
employ up to 15 people on an ongoing basis, in addition 
to the eight people now employed at Stage 1.

Looking ahead, we have a long term supply arrangement 
with Origin Energy for the power generated by Snowtown 
Wind Farm (Stage 1 and 2). We envisage the further 
strengthening of bonds with the local community, 
through respect, integrity and involvement. This 
project has been a powerful demonstration of how 
we are better together and is one we feel privileged 
to have been able to make happen.

Conception to Completion: Snowtown Project Timeline 
 
• 2003 Opportunity identified by Trustpower

• 2004 Development approval granted 

• 2006 Stage 1 construction begins 

• 2008 Stage 1 commissioned, with 47 x 2.1MW turbines producing 389GWh pa

• 2012 Stage 2 construction begins 

• 2014 Stage 2 completion scheduled for September 2014, with 90 x 3 MW turbines producing 985GWh pa.

Snowtown Stage 2 
A Vision Realised

Trustpower’s vision for Snowtown Wind Farm is now  
almost fully realised, marking a crucial step in our Trans-Tasman  

growth and diversification. 

“The Snowtown project has been instrumental in  
bringing the community closer together and  

establishing a positive vision for Snowtown and the 
surrounding area. The Lend a Hand Foundation  

has empowered the community to deliver projects  
that are important at the grass roots level”

said the Chairman of the Snowtown  
Lions Lend a Hand Foundation Alan Large.

Low Res

JIM PEARSON 
Lead Project Manager 

Wind and Infrastructure

In the wider picture, 
Snowtown Wind Farm has  

cemented Trustpower as a reliable and 
respected developer and producer of 

renewable electricity in the 
Australian energy market.
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Our strategic plan sets ambitious growth targets for the 
next three years. To achieve this growth, it will be 
essential to grow our total number of customers, the 
number of services each customer has, and our 
total margin.

A central focus this year has been repositioning ourselves 
from an electricity company that can offer phone and 
internet, to a true multi-product services provider — one 
that offers great value bundles of power, gas, phone and 
broadband, including UFB over fibre. 

Moving to a multi-product offering enables us to increase 
the value of existing customers. For example, the rapid 
uptake of gas since its introduction in November 2013 
has largely been from sales to existing power customers 
who are keen to benefit from the extra value. 

However, to significantly grow customer numbers, we 
need to go where the people are. We need to enter 
heavily populated areas where we have not actively 
acquired new customers in recent years. Auckland, 
Wellington and Hamilton are a prime focus over the next 
12 months. 

In these new metropolitan markets, we need to appeal to 
customer segments that are in some cases different from 
our traditional customer base. In the past, a typical 
Trustpower customer has been more mature, and living in 
a provincial or semi-rural area. Whereas in the metro 
markets, there are far more younger families and 
pre-family couples and singles, who may well not engage 
with the ‘old’ Trustpower. Research shows that younger, 
urban segments have little interest in energy services, 
and low levels of engagement with their energy providers. 

Broadband is however central to their lives. This applies 
both to families whose data demands are growing with 
their children, and for pre-family customers who live 
much of their lives online. 

So, by offering a variety of data plans, including no data 
cap DSL and fibre plans, we can attract these customers 
with a competitively priced plan that meets their 
broadband needs. When we offer additional value by 
bundling broadband with power and gas, we can acquire 
multi-product customers, and achieve our growth and 
profitability targets. 

In metro centres, our brand is not well known, so 
significant investment is needed to drive awareness, and 
support our growth targets. In April 2014, we launched a 
high profile advertising campaign in Auckland and the 
Waikato. 

The campaign includes TV, radio, billboards, bus backs, 
press and online. The key message is that we are the only 
company to offer great value multi-product bundles. 
Using different media, we can tailor the message and 
services to target different groups with the bundle that 

will have maximum relevance and appeal.

Initial results from the Auckland campaign show the 
multi-product proposition is having strong appeal. 
A good number of our new metro customers 
have signed up for multiple services. 
We look forward to building on this 
start over the next three years.

Growing our Customer Numbers 
Bundles are Key
As we seek to significantly grow customer numbers, we’re offering our 
multi-product bundle in the major cities, with early focus on Auckland. 

 
“We’re getting great value by 

having our power, gas, phone and 
Ultra Fast Broadband with Trustpower.

 

It’s much more convenient to only have one bill and 
one phone number to call. And we know that by 

supporting Trustpower we’re also supporting 
TECT and the great things they do 
in the Bay of Plenty community.”

— Andy and Carol Hopcroft 
Tauranga
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Canterbury Irrigation  
A Partnership  

for Good
As a result of collaboration between Trustpower and  

Central Plains Water, in 2015 reliable water supply will start  
flowing to 20,000ha of Canterbury land.

Reliability of water supply is the cornerstone of any  
irrigation scheme. But without storage, Central Plains  
Water (CPW) scheme in Canterbury could only  
provide shareholders with 70% reliability of water supply.
Under its consents, CPW abstracts water for irrigation 
from the Rakaia River, but the river must be at a minimum 
level before abstraction is allowed.

In 2013, CPW signed an agreement with Trustpower to 
have water stored in Lake Coleridge, and have it released 
for shareholders’ use when the Rakaia River is below the 
minimum. Under the historic agreement, CPW can take 
up to 50 million cubic metres of stored water per year, for 
Stage One of its scheme.

CPW’s Chief Executive Derek Crombie said the agreement 
is critical for the scheme’s viability, increasing reliability 
of supply to 95%. Without the agreement, CPW would 
have had to consider building large water storage  
facilities throughout the project area, which would have 
been uneconomic for many users. 

The $375 million CPW scheme will be built in three stages  
over a total of 60,000ha, between the Rakaia and  
Waimakariri Rivers. The $140 million Stage One, spanning 
20,000ha, is targeted to start delivering water in 
September 2015. Future stages are under design, with 
construction to match uptake and future storage 
capacity over the next five years.

Work on Stage One has started. Stage One will include a 
17km headrace canal, with 13 bridges that each span 
approximately 25m (10 farm bridges, three public road 
bridges) plus a 130km pipeline network. When complete, 
the network will have a number of pump stations and 
four main pipelines, extending from the headrace canal 
down the Canterbury Plains.

CPW plans to have the headrace canal and bridges  
substantially complete by mid-2015, including lining  
the canal. This means it should be able to fill the  
canal in July, giving nearly two months of testing and  
commissioning before water officially flows in  
September 2015.

Mr Crombie said that the CPW scheme will provide 
wide-reaching environmental benefits. “In Stage One we 
will be replacing 100 million cubic metres of water that is 
normally extracted from the groundwater aquifers, with 
river water. In addition, the scheme has capacity to 
release targeted flows of water into the lowland aquifers 
to augment the natural flows during summer.  Over time 
this will help replenish the aquifers and improve water 
quality in lowland areas, especially around Lake Te 
Waihora.  Irrigation also means that farmers can better 
control and monitor the amount of nitrates they use, 
thereby cutting down on the amounts leached into the 
groundwater system.”

While Trustpower’s agreement with CPW at this stage 
provides stored water only for Stage One, there is scope 
to more than double the quantity supplied as CPW grows.

“We see this as only the start of our relationship  
with Trustpower. As we move into Stage Two  

and Three of the scheme, we will continue to look at 
various options in relation to water storage, water  

use enhancement and reliability. This will  
ensure wide-reaching environmental benefits for  

the Canterbury Plains.”

Derek Crombie, Chief Executive CPW
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DEREK CROMBIE 
Chief Executive, 
Central Plains Water Limited
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Trustpower’s Customer Experience teams are  
working more closely than ever to deliver the service 
our customers expect. 
Staff across Trustpower’s Customer Experience Business 
Unit (CEBU) share a belief that together, everyone is 
responsible for the end-to-end customer experience.  
Over the last year, they’ve focused on making sure that 
experience is better than ever.

Workshops were held, involving all North and South Island 
CEBU teams. Later, teams were involved in process 
mapping, to assess who does what, and what works best. 
Since then, a number of changes have been made to the 
ways CEBU teams work, including:

• Reviewing credit check criteria so that more services 
can be offered without increasing risk. As a result, 30% 
more customers are now offered telecommunications 
services at signup, a huge step forward in supporting 
our multi-product offering.

• Increasing flexibility so staff can help one another to 
help customers during peak times. CEBU teams answer 
over half a million calls every year, so anything that 
keeps customers satisfied is a good thing. 

• Setting up staff help lines, to assist Customer Service 
Representatives in supporting customers. In six 
months, over 20,000 customers who in the past would 
have had to wait for follow-up support have instead 
received that support straight away.

• Working together as teams, to reduce the number of 
long day bills (bills for periods over 30 days). 

• Launching an online decision tree to assist teams in 
troubleshooting and, if needed, booking faults with 
the right service provider. Getting to the root cause 
of faults takes time, so the decision tree is a big step 
forward in efficiency. 

• Sending telecommunications fault information and 
other information via text, keeping thousands of 
customers informed.

All these changes help Trustpower’s Customer Experience 
teams to attract more new customers, reduce issues and 
delays, and retain our existing customers. It’s an exciting 
journey – and one that never ends.

Even better together 

Customer  
Experience 

Trustpower’s new web site  
– launching a better experience 

“We’re proud to be local, with our customer service 
centres in Tauranga and Oamaru. We’re passionate 

about the customer experience”

It has been 10 years since Trustpower’s first web site 
went live. Now, thanks to our SmartFriends project, the 
site has been transformed.

As well as incorporating Trustpower’s new brand and 
multi-proposition offering (power, gas, phone and  
internet services), there are many improvements for 
visitors. For example:

• Home page banners change content depending 
on where each visitor is located, so offers are more 
appropriate to everyone’s needs.

• A plans and pricing page allows the visitor to enter 
their address. The page then shows the services, 
pricing, discounts and extras that are available to them.

• Clear information on Trustpower includes interactive 
maps and up-to-date information on our generation 
stations in New Zealand and Australia.

• The entire sign up process can now be completed 
online, 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

For our current customers, perhaps the most significant 
improvements come in the account overview section, 
where they can log on and can check their details. For 
example, a customer can now do the following:

• Put multiple accounts on one login. This means that 
in one place, they can view their details for their home 
and bach, or their home and business, or even their 
home, bach and business.

• View their gas usage, power usage, and/or phone and 
internet usage, in a standard view or a detailed view. 
This caters both for customers who want to quickly 
look at their accounts, and for those who want a 
detailed view of their bill.

• Pay their account easily and quickly online via credit 
card or set up a direct debit. 

• Top up their internet data usage quickly, with the top 
up immediately applied to their account.

• View an estimate of how many days of bottled gas they 
have remaining, and receive an alert when it’s time to 
order a refill. 

As yet, it’s too early to provide comprehensive tracking for 
the new web site. However, it’s getting around 65,000 
unique site visits per month, compared with around 
50,000 on the old site, with those visits split fairly evenly 
between new and prospective customers. 

There’s more exciting functionality to come, including the 
ability for customers to change their plans and organise 
their utilities when they move house.

Our SmartFriends project has seen the  
successful launch of Trustpower’s new web site,  

www.trustpower.co.nz 

RACHEL FALCONER 
Customer Experience 

Team Leader
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The reason for this report 
At Trustpower we believe that producing an annual 
sustainability report is an essential part of being a 
good corporate citizen. This report provides a means 
of communicating with a range of stakeholders on the 
full range of our activities. 

Consistent with previous years we report on sustainability 
in conjunction with our annual report.

Materiality
To determine which issues are of material importance, 
we considered issues that might impact our operations, 
the environment, the communities in which we operate, 
or substantially impact on our individual customers and 
stakeholders.

Material measures are those identified from stakeholder 
interaction (page 32) and key risks (page 25). By choosing 
these measures we have produced a report aimed at all 
stakeholders.

Sustainability reporting guidelines
This Annual Report is available on our website, 
www.trustpower.co.nz and is compiled with reference 
to the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Sustainability 
Reporting Guidelines Version 3.0 (“G3”).  We have 
assessed our compliance with the reporting guidelines at 
the Application Level (B).

The GRI guidelines provide a voluntary reporting 
framework used by organisations around the world as the 
basis for sustainability reporting.  The GRI is the generally 
accepted framework for ‘measuring, disclosing, and being 
held accountable to internal and external stakeholders 
for organisational performance towards the goal of 
sustainable development’.

The GRI consists of a framework and guiding principles as 
well as a range of ‘indicators’ that reporting organisations 
can report against.  Indicators are chosen on the basis 
of materiality or significance to the business and / or 

stakeholders.  Not all indicators are reported against in 
this report.

The full list of G3 indicators, where they are reported on 
in the report and to what extent they are reported can be 
found on our website or by inquiry to the address listed in 
the directory.

Reporting principles
We have reviewed GRI’s G3 Reporting Principles 
in an effort to provide a balanced and reasonable 
representation of our sustainability performance.

We have applied the key principles of materiality, 
completeness, context, comparability, accuracy, 
timeliness, clarity, reliability and boundary setting.

Reporting period, accuracy and 
completeness
This report is based on the performance and information 
for the financial year to the end of March 2014.  We use 
in-house reporting systems to collect data for the GRI 
process.

Boundary of the report
This report covers the operations of Trustpower and 
all of its subsidiaries.  Outside the scope of this report 
are outsourced customer services and a variety of field 
services contractors.

External assurance
The financial statements have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers.  Independent review of the 
Company’s impact on greenhouse gases ‘carbon footprint’ 
has also been completed by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The remainder of the report has not been subject to 
independent review. 

About our  
Sustainability 

Report

Sustainability Outlook
At Trustpower we believe that sustainability means building a long term business through relationships with all 
who we interact with. In order to report on our progress in this regard we report economic, staff, environmental, 
customer and community related measures.

Our performance this year was comparable with previous years across the five areas we report on although not all targets 
were achieved. 

AREA MEASURE 2013 ACTUAL 2014 ACTUAL 2014 TARGET 2015 TARGET

Economic EBITDAF Growth (1.8)% (5.9)% 6-10% 5-10%

Staff Staff Survey 77.3 76.7 79.8 79.8

Environmental Resource Consent 
Breaches

5 4 0 0

Customer1 Customer 
Satisfaction

96% N/A >95% N/A

Community Stakeholder 
Consultation

Completed Completed Complete detailed 
stakeholder 
consultation

Complete detailed 
stakeholder 
consultation

1Due to systems changes we are now no longer able to collect this data. A new measure will be in place for the 2015 report.
A more detailed analysis can be found on pages 26-31

All businesses face risks and challenges. Our key risks and challenges are summarised in the table below.

Category Key Risks / Challenges Approach Targets Progress

Economic • Unable to meet future 
demand for electricity

• Shareholder value growth

• Develop a pipeline of 
opportunities for new 
investment

• Maintain strong focus on 
efficiency of operation

• Invest in economic growth 
projects

• Focus on long term 
sustainable pricing

• Costs benchmarked at 
below industry average

• New projects all 
economically viable

• New projects completed on 
time and to budget

• Prices set at levels so 
customer base maintained 
with comparatively lower 
churn

Environmental • Need to minimise 
environmental impact of 
generation schemes

• Overall impact on carbon 
emissions

• Work closely with special 
interest groups and 
the local community to 
minimise impact of new 
generation

• Comply with resource 
consents

• Reduce carbon footprint

• Zero significant resource 
consent breaches

• Year on year reduction 
in carbon emissions per 
customer

Our people • Need to retain and develop 
a team to produce ongoing 
performance

• Extensive training and 
development programme

• Succession planning and 
internal promotion

• 75% of management roles 
filled by internal promotion

• Continuous improvement in 
staff survey results

• Staff survey exceeds 
international benchmark

Community • Relationships with and 
an understanding of local 
communities is required to 
operate effectively

• Community engagement 
including sponsorship and 
community awards

• Consultation around 
resource issues

• Maintain a strong corporate 
profile in all areas in which 
we operate and build 
relationships within those 
communities

• No resource consents 
turned down due to lack of 
consultation

Customer • Dissatisfied customers 
prevent sustainable 
economic performance

• Competitive pricing
• Excellent customer service
• Information and advice

• Net customer churn <2%
• >90% satisfaction in survey N/A

 Achieved             Partially achieved             Not achieved
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*Last year this target was inadvertently set at zero instead
 of the correct target of 2,500 tonnes
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large construction projects
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Resource Consent
Non-compliance Events

OUR 
ENVIRONMENT

Performance against 
commitments for 2014

Achieve zero non-compliance events

Four non-compliance events

Commitments for 2015
Achieve zero non-compliance events
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Commitments for 2015
Achieve zero non-compliance events
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OUR
PEOPLE

Performance against 
commitments for 2014

Increase Engagement Survey scores by 2.5%

Some improvement in key areas - significant 
changes expected in 2015

Implement development programme to
support vision and culture

The leadership development programme
is currently being implemented

Implement Safety Improvement Plan (SIP)

A Health, Safety and Wellness strategy is
under development which will include SIP's 

for all areas

Commitments for 2015
Implement Health, Safety and Wellness Stategy

Develop comprehensive Work Force plan
for next 3-5 years 

Continue focus on Talent Identification 
and Development

OUR
PEOPLE

Performance against 
commitments for 2014

Increase Engagement Survey scores by 2.5%

Some improvement in key areas - significant 
changes expected in 2015

Implement development programme to
support vision and culture

The leadership development programme
is currently being implemented

Implement Safety Improvement Plan (SIP)

A Health, Safety and Wellness strategy is
under development which will include SIP's 

for all areas

Commitments for 2015
Implement Health, Safety and Wellness Stategy

Develop comprehensive Work Force plan
for next 3-5 years 

Continue focus on Talent Identification 
and Development
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0

OUR
CUSTOMERS

Performance against 
commitments for 2014

Enhance our customers ability to engage with 
us via developed web based services

In November Trustpower released its new 
website, replacing the existing site in its 
entirety. The new site offers significantly 

enhanced transactional capability for both
new and existing customers

Commitments for 2015
Provide additional online customer services 

including energy consumption and
efficiency information

OUR
CUSTOMERS

Performance against 
commitments for 2014

Enhance our customers ability to engage with 
us via developed web based services

In November Trustpower released its new 
website, replacing the existing site in its 
entirety. The new site offers significantly 

enhanced transactional capability for both
new and existing customers

Commitments for 2015
Provide additional online customer services 

including energy consumption and
efficiency information
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Due to system changes we are unable to provide this measure. 
A new measure will be developed before next year's report.

* This measure has been restated to exclude customer acquisition  
 costs which we believe gives a more accurate reflection of   
 Trustpower’s core costs.
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OUR
COMMUNITY

Performance against 
commitments for 2014

Continue rollout of stakeholder
engagement meetings

Maintain involvement in the wider community 
through various award programmes and 

targeted sponsorship

Increase from 2013 although the
2014 target was not met

Commitments for 2015
Develop stakeholder engagement measures to 
reflect our stakeholder engagement framework

Maintain involvement in the wider community 
through various award programmes and 

targeted sponsorship

OUR
COMMUNITY

Performance against 
commitments for 2014

Continue rollout of stakeholder
engagement meetings

Maintain involvement in the wider community 
through various award programmes and 

targeted sponsorship

Increase from 2013 although the
2014 target was not met

Commitments for 2015
Develop stakeholder engagement measures to 
reflect our stakeholder engagement framework

Maintain involvement in the wider community 
through various award programmes and 

targeted sponsorship
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We have removed the stakeholder engagement 
survey measure this year because, due to low 
response rates, we don't belive the results provide a 
useful analysis of stakeholder perceptions of 
Trustpower. Trustpower conducts a range of 
stakeholder engagement  activities and, over the 
coming year, will develop a range of measures to 
more accurately reflect these activities in future 
reports. For this reason no target has been set for 
stakeholder engagement meeting numbers.

5
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*This target is based on Trustpower's medium term growth 
aspirations and should not be taken as guidance for the 2015 
financial year.

Target exceeded due to lower than expected generation 
volume in New Zealand.

OUR
ECONOMIC 

PERFORMANCE
Performance against 

commitments for 2014
Provide a year of earnings growth in line

with EBITDAF growth goal
Goal not met

See Directors' report for further commentary

Commitments for 2015
Provide a year of earnings growth in line with 

EBITDAF growth goal
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FIVE YEAR ECONOMIC SUMMARY Mar 10 Mar 11 Mar 12 Mar 13 Mar 14

Electricity customer numbers 000’s 225 221 209 206 224 

Gas customer numbers 000’s 0 0 0 0 14

Telecommunication service numbers 000’s 33 35 38 43 54 

Customer sales (GWh) 4,103 4,033 3,960 3,683 3,512 

Average spot price of electricity purchased ($/MWh) 56 59 78 86 73 

Hydro generation production (GWh) 1,435 1,737 1,934 1,692 1,536 

New Zealand wind generation production (GWh) 582 550 648 638 673 

Average spot price of electricity generated ($/MWh) 50 51 72 83 67 

Australian wind generation production (GWh) 373 328 376 386 536

$M $M $M $M $M

Operating Revenue 759 766 807 806 812 

EBITDAF 274 274 300 295 277 

Fair Value Movements of Financial Instruments 13 0 (8) (6) 9

Asset Impairment (6) 0 0 0 0

Amortisation and Depreciation (55) (55) (58) (66) (72)

Net Interest Paid (59) (62) (63) (63) (62)

Tax Expense (48) (45) (39) (37) (38)

OPERATING SURPLUS 119 112 132 123 115 

Underlying Earnings After Tax 117 116 135 127 108 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1,437 1,418 1,571 1,552 1,514 

Current and Other Assets 157 135 165 213 188 

Fixed Assets 2,366 2,436 2,585 2,717 2,887 

Intangible Assets 36 34 46 47 72 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,559 2,605 2,796 2,977 3,147 

Current and Other Liabilities 313 120 251 247 417 

Deferred Tax Liability 267 257 300 292 310 

Term Debt 542 810 674 886 906 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,122 1,187 1,225 1,425 1,633 

NET ASSETS 1,437 1,418 1,571 1,552 1,514 

Earnings Per Share (cents) 38 36 42 39 37 

Dividends Per Share (cents) 38 39 40 40 40 

Return on Average Shareholders’ Funds 8.3% 7.9% 8.8% 7.9% 7.4%

Our Economic Performance
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Stakeholder Interaction
Our relationships with various stakeholders have been highlighted throughout this report. 
The following table summarises the interaction we have had and will continue to have with our stakeholders.

Stakeholder Interaction Key interests and concerns How we respond

Generation Communities • As required community/stakeholder meetings on key topics of interest
• Regular community group meetings
• Charitable donations and community projects
• Community Awards Programme

• Impact of electricity generation on communities 
including transport of goods and staff

• Impact on recreational areas around generation sites
• Impact on local employment
• Contribution to economic and sustainable development 

of affected communities

• Targeting 100 per cent compliance with consent conditions
• Mitigation projects
• Environmental management systems
• Policy of hiring locally where local skills and expertise are 

available
• Sponsorship and management of local community awards

Tangata Whenua • Regular formal and informal meetings with iwi at generation sites • Minimisation of any ongoing impact and degradation on 
tangata whenua cultural and spiritual values

• Minimisation of, or where appropriate mitigation for,  
ongoing environmental footprint 

• Seek to understand and acknowledge tangata whenua regarding 
electricity schemes

• Seek to understand and acknowledge the impact of activities on 
the values held by tangata whenua

• Where possible and appropriate, reach mitigation agreements 
with iwi impacted by operations

Customers • Customer interaction through customer service staff, meter readers, 
account managers and community relation activities

• Customer surveys
• Customer newsletters
• Website

• Cost, reliability of and access to electricity supply
• Customer service and satisfaction
• Energy efficiency and renewable generation
• Company reputation

• Treat all customers fairly and with respect
• Be aware of and seek to minimise risk for vulnerable customers
• Provide energy efficiency advice to customers
• Aim to provide the highest level of service
• Deliver open and transparent pricing / billing

Employees • Staff surveys
• Staff newsletter
• Intranet
• Direct engagement on key topics of interest
• Staff committee
• Senior Management Team’s staff updates
• Inter-team challenges, sports and fun evenings
• Employee involvement in community activity

• Work/life balance
• Achieving and maintaining zero health and safety 

incidents
• Competitive rates of pay
• Being a socially and environmentally responsible 

employer
• Training and development
• Being regarded and respected as a responsible employer 

and an employer of choice

• Monitor staff work levels, performance and feedback
• Great Safety Performance programme
• Market based remuneration
• Provide leadership development programme
• Promote wellness programme
• Keep employees well informed about our business
• Promote internally for 75% of positions
• Subsidise life, trauma and income protection insurance

Special Interest Groups • Meetings to discuss key topics of interest
• Partnerships and funding to deliver, where appropriate, community projects
• Respond to information requests
• Membership of relevant organisations

• Contribution to climate change
• Impact on local communities – positive and negative
• Show an interest in and ability to support community 

development
• Promotion of and support for community voluntary 

sector

• Contribution to climate change strategy
• Develop renewable electricity generation 

Government • Briefings with Ministers and officials
• Submissions on policy
• Contribution to development of policy
• Participation in working groups, conferences and meetings

• Security of supply
• Ensuring company corporate social responsibility

• Assist with development of climate change strategy
• Engage with the Government and other stakeholders and submit 

on key energy policy documents
• Develop renewable generation

Electricity Sector • Submissions on electricity sector policy
• Participation in utility forums

• Working with other industry stakeholders on mutual 
interests related to planning and regulation

• Security of supply

• Submit on Electricity Authority proposals and reviews
• Participate in working groups, conferences and other key forums 

on key topics of mutual interest

Suppliers and Contractors • Contractual arrangements
• Procurement policy

• Policies, procedures and requirements are clearly 
understood

• Development and implementation of a sustainable procurement 
policy

General Community • Media liaison
• Public meetings
• Direct mail communications
• Advertising
• Website
• Direct community involvement

• Keeping the lights on uninterrupted
• Contribution to climate change
• Cost and access to energy
• Impact on local communities positive and negative

• Climate change strategy
• Direct community involvement, interaction, sponsorship and 

support

Shareholders • Annual meeting
• Board representatives
• Reports and publications

• Sustainable earnings
• Growth
• Shareholder value

• Considered economic investment
• Deliver sustainable shareholder returns
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Role Of The Board Of Directors
The Directors are elected by the shareholders and are 
responsible to the shareholders for the performance of 
the Group. Their focus is to enhance the interests of 
shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure 
the Group is properly managed. The Board draws on 
relevant corporate governance best practice principles to 
assist and contribute to the performance of the Group.

The Board has developed a charter that outlines  
responsibilities that encompass the following:

• Setting the strategic direction of Trustpower and 
monitoring Management’s implementation of that 
strategy.

• Selecting and appointing (and, if appropriate, removing 
from office) the Chief Executive, determining his/
her conditions of service and monitoring his/her 
performance against established objectives.

• Ratifying the appointment (and, if appropriate, 
removing from office) the Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary.

• Ratifying the remuneration of senior management  
consistent with their employment agreements.

• Monitoring financial outcomes and the integrity of 
reporting, and, in particular, approving annual budgets 
and longer-term strategic and business plans.

• Setting specific limits of authority for management to 
commit to new expenditure enter contracts or acquire 
businesses without prior Board approval.

• Ensuring that effective audit, risk management and  
compliance systems are in place to protect the Group’s 
assets and to minimise the possibility of the Group  
operating beyond legal requirements or beyond  
acceptable risk parameters.

• Monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements 
(including continuous disclosure) and setting ethical 
standards and then monitoring compliance with those 
standards.

• Reviewing, on a regular basis, senior management  
succession planning and development.

• Ensuring effective and timely reporting to 
shareholders.

Each year the Board has nine scheduled one day 
meetings, at least one extended strategic planning 
meeting, at least four Audit and Risk Committee meetings 
and several unscheduled meetings to consider and/or 
review substantial projects and any other special 
circumstances that may arise from time to time.

The full Board determines the board size and 
composition, subject to limits imposed by the Company’s 
Constitution which is required to comply with the NZX 
Listing Rules. The Constitution provides for a minimum of 
three directors and a maximum of seven. 

The Constitution and NZX Listing Rules also require that 
while there are a total of six or seven directors, two must 
be independent directors. As at 31 March 2014, the Board 
has determined that the independent directors of 

Trustpower are RH Aitken, GJC Swier, and IS Knowles and 
the non-independent directors of Trustpower are MJ 
Cooney, BJ Harker, and M Bogoievski.

The Board has established two standing Subcommittees 
being; the Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee. 

Audit And Risk Committee
The Board has established a standing Audit and Risk 
Committee consisting of three directors. The Committee 
meets at least four times a year. Members of the 
Committee are: GJC Swier (Chairman), BJ Harker, and IS 
Knowles.

The role of the Audit and Risk Committee is formally 
recorded in a charter document approved by the Board of 
Directors. The primary objective of the Committee, as set 
out in the charter, is to assist the Board in fulfilling its 
responsibilities relating to accounting and reporting 
practices of the Group. In particular, the Committee’s 
main responsibilities are to:

• Review and report to the Board on the annual report, 
the interim financial report and all other financial 
information published by the Group or released to  
the market.

• Assist the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s internal control environment. 

• Determine the scope of the internal audit function and 
ensure that its resources are adequate and used  
effectively, including co-ordination with external 
auditors.

• Oversee the effective operation of the risk 
management framework.

• Recommend to the Board the appointment, removal 
and remuneration of the external auditors, and review 
the terms of their engagement, and the scope and 
quality of the audit.

• Review and approve, within established procedures, 
and before commencement, the nature and scope 
of non-audit services being provided by the external 
auditors. These procedures include quantitative and 
qualitative thresholds for the review, and include all 
relatively significant projects.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit and Risk 
Committee receives regular reports from management 
and the internal and external auditors. It also meets with 
the internal and external auditors at least three times a 
year – more frequently if necessary. The internal and 
external auditors have a clear line of direct 
communication at any time to either the Chairperson  
of the Audit and Risk Committee or the Chairperson of 
the Board.

The Remuneration Committee
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee 
which has two directors as members, BJ Harker and GJC 
Swier. The role of the Remuneration Committee is 
formally recorded in a charter document approved by the 
Board of Directors.

Corporate Governance Statement The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee 
are to: 

• Help enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate 
executives and directors who will create value for 
shareholders.

• Fairly and reasonably reward executives having regard 
to the performance of the Group, the performance of 
the executives and the general pay environment.

• Help the Group comply with the provisions of the 
Employment Relations Act 2000, the Companies Act 
1993, the NZX Listing Rules and any other relevant 
legal requirements.

The responsibilities of the Committee include:
• Reviewing and recommending to the Board for 

approval the remuneration policy for directors and 
senior executives and ensuring that the structure 
of the policy allows the Group to attract and retain 
directors and senior executives of sufficient calibre to 
facilitate the efficient and effective management of 
the Company’s operations.

• Annual review and recommendation to the Board for 
approval of the remuneration packages of all directors 
and senior executives of the Group.

• With reference to the Board, managing the 
employment or removal of the Chief Executive and 
negotiation of employment terms.

• Participation in the process of employment of the Chief 
Financial Officer and recommendation to the Board of 
its confidence in any appointment.

• Establishment of appropriate performance criteria, 
from time to time, for short and long term employee 
incentive schemes and to make recommendations to 
the Board.

Other Sub Committees
The Board has established a sub committee including BJ 
Harker, MJ Cooney and IS Knowles to oversee any 
transaction to be undertaken by the Group in relation to 
on-market share buybacks.

The Board will review the need to establish a separate 
Health and Safety Committee over the next 12 months 
once it has had an opportunity to assess best practice 
guidance for health and safety governance following the 
recent introduction of the Health and Safety Reform Bill. 

Review Of Board Performance
An annual review of the performance of the Board and 
individual directors is undertaken by the Chairman. 

Compliance With NZX Corporate 
Governance Best Practice Code And 
Other Guidelines
As a listed issuer Trustpower is required to disclose in its 
Annual Report whether, and to what extent, its corporate 
governance principles materially differ from the NZX 
Corporate Governance Best Practice Code.

Trustpower believes that it complies in all material 
respects with the Code. However, it should be noted that 
the Trustpower Board has chosen not to constitute a 
Nominations Committee as recommended by the Code. 
The Board has decided that director nominations are able 
to be handled more effectively by the full Board.

Code Of Ethics
A Code of Ethics has been developed and approved by 
the Board. Trustpower is committed to maintaining the 
highest standards of honesty, integrity and ethical 
conduct and has adopted a Code of Ethics to deter 
wrongdoing and to promote:

• Honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical 
handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest 
between personal and professional relationships.

• Full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable 
disclosure in reports and documents filed by the 
Company and in other public communications made by 
the Company.

• Compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

• Internal reporting to the Board of Directors of 
violations of this Code of Ethics.

• Accountability for adherence to the Code of Ethics.

The Code of Ethics is not an exhaustive list of acceptable 
or non-acceptable behaviour, rather it is intended to 
guide decisions so they are consistent with Trustpower’s 
values, business goals and legal and policy obligations.

Failure to follow the Code of Ethics may lead to 
disciplinary action being taken, which may include 
dismissal. The Code of Ethics applies to the Board of 
Directors and the Company’s employees.

Internal Control
The Group has adopted a system of internal control. The 
system is based upon written procedures, policies, 
guidelines and organisational structures that provide an 
appropriate division of responsibility, sound risk 
management, a programme of internal audit, and the 
careful selection and training of qualified personnel.

While the Board acknowledges that it is responsible for 
the overall control framework of the Group, it recognises 
that no cost effective internal control system will 
preclude all errors and irregularities.

Risk Management
The Group has developed a comprehensive, enterprise-
wide risk management framework. Management actively 
participates in the identification, assessment, and 
monitoring of new and existing risks. Particular attention 
is given to market risks that could impact on the Group. 
Management undertakes regular reporting to appraise 
the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board of the 
Group’s risks and the treatment of those risks.

The Audit and Risk Committee reviews and if considered 
satisfactory, recommends for approval by the Board 
annually, the Group’s insurance programme.

Wholesale Energy And Carbon 
Trading Policy
The Group has adopted a Wholesale Energy and Carbon 
Trading Policy to manage the risk relating to the 
purchasing of electricity and gas from wholesale energy 
markets and the trading of carbon related products. 
Derivative instruments are used to set the price of 
electricity at a future nominated time. The Wholesale 
Energy and Carbon Trading Policy allows wholesale 
energy and carbon trading to occur within risk limits set 
by the Board.
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Treasury Policy
The Group has a Board approved Treasury Policy to 
manage finance, interest rate, foreign exchange and 
foreign investment risks. The Policy approves the use of 
certain instruments for risk management purposes, and it 
prohibits any activity that is purely speculative in nature. 
It also sets out exposure limits, delegated authorities and 
internal controls. The Policy is reviewed by Management 
annually and independently every three years.

Delegated Authorities Policy
The Group has a Delegated Authorities Policy in place 
that has been approved by the Board. The Policy provides 
limited authority to certain Group employees to purchase 
goods and services, enter into sales contracts and 
approve credit, sign deeds, indemnities and guarantees, 
and sign other contracts and documents. The Policy is 
reviewed annually.

Environmental Policy
The Group recognises the importance of environmental 
issues and is committed to the highest levels of 
performance. To help meet this objective the Group has 
developed and implemented both environmental policies 
and a comprehensive environmental management 
system. These have been established to facilitate the 
systematic identification of environmental issues and to 
ensure that they are managed in a structured manner. 
These measures allow the Group to:

• Monitor its compliance with all relevant legislation.

• Continually assess and improve the impact of its 
operations on the environment.

• Encourage employees to actively participate in the 
management of environmental issues.

• Use energy and other resources efficiently.

• Encourage the adoption of similar standards by 
the Group’s principal suppliers, contractors and 
distributors.

• Ensure procedures are in place to appropriately deal 
with any adverse environmental event that may occur.

Group Information Policy
The following is the Group’s policy regarding the 
disclosure of Group information:

No Director of the Group may disclose information which 
that Director has received in his or her capacity as a 
Director or employee of the Group, being information that 
would not otherwise be available to the Director, to

a. a person whose interests that Director represents; or

b. a person in accordance with whose directions or 
instructions the Director may be required, or is 
accustomed to act in relation to the Director’s powers 
and duties,

without the prior consent of a subcommittee of the 
Board established to authorise the disclosure. 

Conflicts Of Interest
Where any Trustpower Director has a conflict of interest 
or is otherwise interested in any transaction, that 
Director is required to disclose his or her conflict of 
interest, and thereafter neither participate in the 
discussion nor vote in relation to the relevant matter. The 
Group maintains a register of disclosed interests.

Insider Trading
In order to protect Trustpower’s reputation and safeguard 
employees who may want to buy or sell Trustpower 
securities, the Group’s Securities Trading Policy requires 
an approved procedure to be followed by all staff and 
Directors. Certain employees of the Company are required 
to make additional disclosures under the Securities 
Markets Act 1988.

Whistleblowing Policy
Trustpower has established a Whistleblowing Policy in 
order to facilitate the disclosure and impartial 
investigation of any serious wrongdoing. This policy 
advises employees of their right to disclose serious 
wrongdoing, and sets out Trustpower’s internal 
procedures for receiving and dealing with such 
disclosures. The policy is consistent with, and facilitates, 
the Protected Disclosures Act 2000.

Other Corporate Policies
The Group has a number of other policies covering but 
not limited to human resource activities, health and 
safety, buildings and security, business continuity and 
disaster recovery planning. These policies are regularly 
reviewed and approved by senior management and where 
appropriate the Board.

Internal Audit
The Group has established an outsourced internal audit 
function that is responsible for monitoring the Group’s 
system of internal financial control and the integrity of 
the financial information reported to the Board. Internal 
audit operates independently from the Board and reports 
its findings directly to the Audit and Risk Committee.  
Internal audit liaises closely with the external auditor, 
who reviews the internal audit work undertaken to the 
extent necessary to support its audit opinion. 

The Role Of Shareholders
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are informed 
of all major developments affecting the Group’s state of 
affairs. Information is communicated to shareholders in 
the annual, interim reports, and various announcements 
to NZX. Quarterly operational information is also provided 
following the end of each quarter via NZX 
announcement. The Board encourages full participation 
of shareholders at the annual meeting to ensure a high 
level of accountability and identification with the Group’s 
strategies and goals. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring 
that the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the 
Company and the Group as at 31 March 2014 
and their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year ended on that date. 

The Directors consider that the financial 
statements of the Company and the Group 
have been prepared using appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable judgements and 
estimates and that all relevant financial 
reporting and accounting standards have 
been followed. 

The Directors believe that proper accounting 
records have been kept that enable, with 
reasonable accuracy, the determination of the 
financial positions of the Company and the 
Group and facilitate compliance of the 
financial statements with the Financial 
Reporting Act 1993. 

The Directors consider they have taken 
adequate steps to safeguard the assets of the 
Company and the Group to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. 

Bruce Harker 
Chairman

Geoff Swier 
Director

 
Company Registration Number HN604040

Dated: 9 May 2014 

Directors’ 
Responsibility  

Statement
The Directors are pleased to present  

the financial statements  
of Trustpower Limited and subsidiaries  

for the year ended 31 March 2014. 
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Income Statements
GROUP PARENT

For the Year Ended 31 March 2014 Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Operating Revenue

Electricity revenue 6  752,444  765,155  699,461  727,215 

Gas revenue 38  10,962  -  9,840  - 

Meter rental revenue  8,475  7,138  8,475  7,138 

Other customer fees and charges  2,613  2,464  2,600  2,464 

Telecommunications revenue  28,783  23,346  28,783  23,346 

Other operating revenue  8,422  7,401  10,891  7,293 

 811,699  805,504  760,050  767,456 

Operating Expenses

Energy costs  126,058  136,480  126,058  136,480 

Generation production costs  49,345  41,531  38,766  35,195 

Line costs  232,103  230,312  232,103  230,312 

Gas cost of sales  8,617  -  8,617  - 

Market fees and costs  8,464  10,458  8,464  10,428 

Meter rental costs  5,571  4,650  5,571  4,650 

Other customer connection costs  1,993  1,724  1,993  1,724 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  137  (104)  137  (41)

Employee benefits  40,959  35,623  40,027  34,597 

Telecommunications cost of sales  23,261  19,959  23,261  19,959 

Other operating expenses 7  37,785  30,115  50,074  42,670 

 534,293  510,748  535,071  515,974 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation, Fair Value 
Movements of Financial Instruments and Asset Impairments (EBITDAF)  277,406  294,756  224,979  251,482 

Impairment of assets 8  226  -  1,705  2,841 

Net fair value (gains) / losses on financial instruments 9  (9,448)  5,593  (5,728)  3,721 

Amortisation of intangible assets 25  10,619  7,930  10,619  7,930 

Depreciation 23  61,394  58,057  25,257  23,898 

Operating Profit  214,615  223,176  193,126  213,092 

Interest paid 10  63,215  64,219  47,831  48,782 

Interest received 10  (1,487)  (1,472)  (4,610)  (3,320)

Net finance costs  61,728  62,747  43,221  45,462 

Profit Before Income Tax  152,887  160,429  149,905  167,630 

Income tax expense 11  37,766  37,078  41,221  46,805 

Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company  115,121  123,351  108,684  120,825 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 4  36.7  39.2  34.7  38.4 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 188 Quay Street, Private Bag 92162, Auckland 1142, New Zealand
T: +64 (9) 355 8000, F: +64 (9) 355 8001, www.pwc.com/nz

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the shareholders of Trustpower Limited

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Trustpower Limited (“the Company”) on pages 39 to 81, which comprise
the statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014, the income statements, statements of comprehensive income
and statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial
statements that include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information for both the
Company and the Group. The Group comprises the Company and the entities it controlled at 31 March 2014 or from
time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practice in New Zealand and that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate and for such
internal controls as the Directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) and International Standards on Auditing.
These standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider the internal controls relevant to the Company and the Group’s preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company and the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

We have no relationship with, or interests in, Trustpower Limited or any of its subsidiaries other than in our capacities
as auditors, tax advisors, and providers of other assurance services, and financial modelling services. These services
have not impaired our independence as auditors of the Company and the Group.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 39 to 81:

(i) comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

(ii) comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

(iii) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2014,

and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We also report in accordance with Sections 16(1)(d) and 16(1)(e) of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. In relation to our

audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014:

(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required; and

(ii) in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from an

examination of those records.

Restriction on Distribution or Use

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 205(1) of the

Companies Act 1993. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those

matters which we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s

shareholders, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

Chartered Accountants Auckland
9 May 2014
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Statements of Comprehensive Income
GROUP PARENT

For the Year Ended 31 March 2014 Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company  115,121  123,351  108,684  120,825 

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Asset impairments 15  (4,268)  -  (4,268)  - 

Currency translation differences on revaluation reserve 15  (11,299)  (1,405)  -  - 

Other currency translation differences 18  (6,796)  (1,031)  -  - 

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 17  14,562  (20,293)  10,036  (19,106)

Movements in employee share option reserve 18  -  (3)  -  (3)

Tax effect of the following:

 Asset impairments 15  (92)  -  (92)  - 

 Disposal of revalued assets 15  74  18  74  18 

 Other currency translation differences 18  (7,625)  (493)  -  - 

 Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 17  (4,558)  5,705  (2,810)  5,349 

Total Other Comprehensive Income 13  (20,002)  (17,502)  2,940  (13,742)

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to Shareholders of the Company  95,119  105,849  111,624  107,083 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Statements of Changes in Equity
GROUP  
 
 
For the Year Ended 31 March 2014 Note

Share 
capital

$000

Revaluation 
reserve

$000

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
$000

Other 
reserves

$000

Retained 
earnings

$000

Total 
equity

$000

Opening balance as at 1 April 2012  166,078  1,026,513  5,198  12,192  361,350  1,571,331 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  (1,387)  (14,588)  (1,527)  123,351  105,849 

Disposal of revalued assets  -  (63)  -  -  63  - 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Purchase of treasury shares by directors 36  290  -  -  -  -  290 

Own shares repurchased 14  (260)  -  -  -  -  (260)

Dividends paid 12  -  -  -  -  (125,447)  (125,447)

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  30  -  -  -  (125,447)  (125,417)

Closing balance as at 31 March 2013  166,108  1,025,063  (9,390)  10,665  359,317  1,551,763 

Opening balance as at 1 April 2013  166,108  1,025,063  (9,390)  10,665  359,317  1,551,763 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  (15,585)  10,004  (14,421)  115,121  95,119 

Disposal of revalued assets  -  (266)  -  -  266  - 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Purchase of treasury shares by directors 36  298  -  -  -  -  298 

Purchase of treasury shares by management 36  51  -  -  -  -  51 

Own shares repurchased 14  (7,423)  -  -  -  -  (7,423)

Dividends paid 12  -  -  -  -  (125,276)  (125,276)

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  (7,074)  -  -  -  (125,276)  (132,350)

Closing balance as at 31 March 2014  159,034  1,009,212  614  (3,756)  349,428  1,514,532 

PARENT

Note

Share 
capital

$000

Revaluation 
reserve

$000

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
$000

Other 
reserves

$000

Retained 
earnings

$000

Total 
equity

$000

Opening balance as at 1 April 2012  166,078  861,554  5,198  3  357,401  1,390,234 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  18  (13,757)  (3)  120,825  107,083 

Disposal of revalued assets  -  (63)  -  -  63  - 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Purchase of treasury shares by directors 36  290  -  -  -  -  290 

Own shares repurchased 14  (260)  -  -  -  -  (260)

Dividends paid 12  -  -  -  -  (125,447)  (125,447)

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  30  -  -  -  (125,447)  (125,417)

Closing balance as at 31 March 2013  166,108  861,509  (8,559)  -  352,842  1,371,900 

Opening balance as at 1 April 2013  166,108  861,509  (8,559)  -  352,842  1,371,900 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  (4,286)  7,226  -  108,684  111,624 

Disposal of revalued assets  -  (266)  -  -  266  - 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Purchase of treasury shares by directors 36  298  -  -  -  -  298 

Purchase of treasury shares by management 36  51  -  -  -  -  51 

Own shares repurchased 14  (7,423)  -  -  -  -  (7,423)

Dividends paid 12  -  -  -  -  (125,276)  (125,276)

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  (7,074)  -  -  -  (125,276)  (132,350)

Closing balance as at 31 March 2014  159,034  856,957  (1,333)  -  336,516  1,351,174 
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Statements of Financial Position
GROUP PARENT

As at 31 March 2014 Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share capital 14  159,034  166,108  159,034  166,108 

Revaluation reserve 15  1,009,212  1,025,063  856,957  861,509 

Retained earnings 16  349,428  359,317  336,516  352,842 

Cash flow hedge reserve 17  614  (9,390)  (1,333)  (8,559)

Other reserves 18  (3,756)  10,665  -  - 

Total Equity  1,514,532  1,551,763  1,351,174  1,371,900 

Represented by:

Current Assets

Cash at bank 19  31,723  53,972  2,614  31,117 

Bond deposits on trust  800  995  800  995 

Electricity market security deposits  1,799  -  1,799  - 

Accounts receivable and prepayments 20  131,515  136,414  118,683  129,456 

Derivative financial instruments 21  5,132  4,230  2,216  2,797 

Advances to subsidiaries 22  -  -  117,262  130,553 

Taxation receivable  9,913  6,362  -  - 

 180,882  201,973  243,374  294,918 

Non-Current Assets

Accounts receivable and prepayments 20  764  3,051  -  - 

Property, plant and equipment 23  2,886,619  2,716,588  1,943,947  1,958,019 

Derivative financial instruments 21  4,507  4,941  3,277  4,595 

Investments in subsidiaries 24  -  -  51,135  51,135 

Other investments  1,892  2,420  1,892  1,892 

Intangible assets 25  72,239  47,298  72,239  47,298 

 2,966,021  2,774,298  2,072,490  2,062,939 

Total Assets  3,146,903  2,976,271  2,315,864  2,357,857 

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accruals 26  122,429  120,463  117,961  115,786 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 28  -  54,713  -  54,713 

Unsecured senior bonds 29  75,000  -  75,000  - 

Unsecured bank loans 27  193,508  24,908  -  - 

Derivative financial instruments 21  2,907  3,328  2,807  303 

Taxation payable  5,222  2,726  5,048  2,561 

 399,066  206,138  200,816  173,363 

Non-Current Liabilities

Unsecured bank loans 27  529,012  435,284  142,102  108,983 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 28  238,211  237,662  238,211  237,662 

Unsecured senior bonds 29  138,498  212,838  138,498  212,838 

Derivative financial instruments 21  13,966  36,399  8,897  27,990 

Accounts payable and accruals 26  3,856  4,064  3,856  4,064 

Deferred tax liability 30  309,762  292,123  232,310  221,057 

 1,233,305  1,218,370  763,874  812,594 

Total Liabilities  1,632,371  1,424,508  964,690  985,957 

Net Assets  1,514,532  1,551,763  1,351,174  1,371,900 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Cash Flow Statements
GROUP PARENT

For the Year Ended 31 March 2014 Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash was provided from:

Receipts from customers  839,741  802,716  791,744  765,453 

 839,741  802,716  791,744  765,453 

Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers and employees  548,999  517,867  531,122  497,603 

Taxation paid  33,979  43,741  33,780  43,426 

 582,978  561,608  564,902  541,029 

Net Cash from Operating Activities 32  256,763  241,108  226,842  224,424 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Sale of property, plant and equipment  338  377  338  252 

Return of bond deposits on trust  200  800  200  800 

Return of electricity market security deposits  8,300  8,900  8,300  8,900 

Interest received  1,490  1,497  4,610  3,321 

Sale of investments  523  -  -  - 

 10,851  11,574  13,448  13,273 

Cash was applied to:

Advances to subsidiaries  -  -  7,969  14,308 

Interest capitalised in construction of property, plant and equipment  15,146  4,780  474  514 

Lodgement of electricity market security deposits  10,107  8,905  10,102  8,905 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  308,803  198,603  15,581  28,823 

Purchase of business 38  17,038  -  17,038  - 

Purchase of intangible assets  16,493  9,333  16,493  9,333 

 367,587  221,621  67,657  61,883 

Net Cash used in Investing Activities  (356,736)  (210,047)  (54,209)  (48,610)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Bank loan proceeds  406,550  242,358  105,545  68,535 

Subordinated bond issue proceeds  -  74,925  -  74,925 

Issue of shares  298  290  298  290 

 406,848  317,573  105,843  143,750 

Cash was applied to:

Bond brokerage costs  -  1,907  -  1,907 

Purchase of own shares  7,423  260  7,423  260 

Repayment of bank loans  73,000  83,613  73,000  79,789 

Repayment of subordinated bonds  54,713  43,517  54,713  43,517 

Interest paid  61,796  61,404  46,568  47,222 

Dividends paid  125,275  125,447  125,275  125,447 

 322,207  316,148  306,979  298,142 

Net Cash from/(used in) Financing Activities  84,641  1,425  (201,136)  (154,392)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (15,332)  32,486  (28,503)  21,422 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  53,972  23,142  31,117  9,695 

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents  (6,917)  (1,656)  -  - 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Year  31,723  53,972  2,614  31,117 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2014

Note 1: General Information
Reporting Entity
The principal activities of Trustpower Limited (the Company or Parent) 
and its subsidiaries (together the Group) are the development, 
ownership and operation of electricity generation facilities from 
renewable energy sources and the retail sale of energy and 
telecommunications services to its customers. All significant 
operations take place within New Zealand and Australia.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in New Zealand. The address of its registered office is 
Truman Lane, Te Maunga, Mount Maunganui. The Company is listed 
on the New Zealand Stock Exchange.

These financial statements relate to the year ended 31 March 2014 
and have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the 
Board) on 9 May 2014.

The Company’s owners or others do not have the power to amend 
the financial statements after they have been authorised for issue.

Note 2: Statement of 
Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
these audited financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
These audited financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (NZGAAP). They comply with New Zealand equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and other applicable 
New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for 
profit-oriented entities. The Group has adopted and applied XRBA1 
in the current period.

Entities reporting

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are for the 
economic entity comprising Trustpower Limited and its subsidiaries. 
The consolidated entity is designated as a profit-oriented entity for 
financial reporting purposes.

Statutory base

Trustpower Limited is registered under the Companies Act 1993 and 
is an issuer in terms of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the 
Companies Act 1993.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of generation 
assets, derivative financial instruments, unsold emission rights and 
employee share options which are stated at fair value.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with NZ IFRS 
requires the Group to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are disclosed in note 39.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
‘New Zealand Dollars’ (NZD), which is the Company’s functional 

and the Group’s presentation currency, and rounded to the nearest 
thousand.

2.2 Principles of Consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which 
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account 
for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair 
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated but are considered as an impairment 
indicator of the assets transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. 
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Board.

2.4 Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for 
impairment of receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of 
the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. The amount of the impairment 
loss is recognised in the income statement. The criteria that the 
Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an 
impairment loss include: 

•  Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

•  A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest 
or principal payments;

•  The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a 
concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; and

•  It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation.

2.5 Financial Assets
The Group classifies all of its investments as financial assets at fair 
value through the profit or loss, held to maturity financial assets or 
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the investments were acquired. Management determines 
the classification of its investments at initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss are financial 
assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category 
if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as 
non-current assets where the remaining maturity of the asset is 
greater than 12 months; they are classified as current assets when 
the remaining maturity of the asset is less than 12 months.

Held to maturity financial assets

Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities, other 
than those that meet the definition of loans and receivables, that the 
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold 
until maturity. These assets are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less any provision for impairment.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are 
classified as non-current assets. Advances between Group 
companies within one country are interest free while cross-border 
advances incur interest at a market rate.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on 
the trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase 
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value 
through the profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and 
transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial 
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the investments have expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held to maturity 
financial assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the 
income statement within fair value movements of financial instruments, 
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the income 
statement as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive 
payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid 
prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for 
unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using 
valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arms length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially 
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, 
making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as 
possible on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. Impairment testing of trade receivables 
is described in note 2.4.

2.6 Property, Plant and Equipment
Generation assets are shown at fair value, based on at least 
three-yearly valuations by independent external valuers, less 
subsequent depreciation. This valuation is reviewed annually and if 
it is considered that there has been a material change then a new 
independent valuation is undertaken. Any accumulated depreciation 
at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the 

revalued amount of the asset. All other property is stated at 
historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency 
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of assets constructed by the Group, including capital work 
in progress, includes the cost of all materials used in construction, 
direct labour specifically associated, resource management consent 
renewal costs, and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overheads. Financing costs on uncompleted capital work in 
progress are capitalised at the specific project finance interest rate, 
where these meet certain time and monetary materiality limits. 
Costs cease to be capitalised as soon as the asset is ready for 
productive use and do not include any inefficiency costs.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 
recognised as a separate asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced item is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
income statement during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of 
generation assets are credited to the revaluation reserve in equity. 
Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are 
charged against the revaluation reserve directly in equity. All other 
decreases are charged to the income statement.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on all other property, plant 
and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method at rates 
calculated to allocate each asset’s cost over its estimated useful 
life. Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis as follows:

 Freehold buildings 2%

 Generation assets 0.5-8%

 Metering equipment 5-15%

 Plant and equipment 10-33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within net 
(gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment, in the income 
statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in 
the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

2.7 Investment in Subsidiaries
Investments in, and advances to, subsidiaries are recorded at cost 
less any impairment writedowns.

2.8 Emission Rights
The Group receives tradable emission rights from specific energy 
production levels of certain renewable generation facilities. The 
future revenue arising from the sale of these emission rights is a key 
matter in deciding whether to proceed with construction of the 
generation facility and is considered to be part of the value of the 
generation assets recorded in the statement of financial position. 

Emission rights produced are recognised in the statement of 
financial position if the right has been verified, it is probable that 
expected future economic benefits will flow to the Group, and the 
rights can be measured reliably. Emission rights are initially 
measured at cost. After initial recognition, the emission rights are 
carried at fair value with any changes taken to the income 
statement. Fair value is determined by reference to an active 
market. If the emission rights cannot be valued because there is no 
active market, the emission rights are carried at cost less any 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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2.9 Intangible Assets
Customer base assets

Costs incurred in acquiring customers from other energy supply 
companies and telecommunications companies are recorded as a 
customer base intangible asset. The customer bases are amortised 
on a straight line basis over the period of expected benefit. This 
period has been assessed as between 12 and 20 years for energy 
customer bases and 5 years for telecommunication customer 
bases. These useful lives are reviewed annually with reference to 
historical levels of customer churn experienced in the relevant 
markets. The carrying value of the customer bases is reviewed 
annually by the Directors and impaired where it is considered 
necessary. The carrying values are reviewed with reference to the 
expected future cash flows from these customers. The expected 
future cash flows are produced via internal forecasting. 

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 
These costs are amortised over three years on a straight line basis 
except for major pieces of billing system software which are 
amortised over no more than seven years on a straight line basis.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer 
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that 
are directly associated with the development of identifiable and 
unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will 
probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs for more 
than one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Costs include 
the employee costs incurred in the development of software and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Computer software 
development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives. 

All of the Group’s intangible assets have finite lives.

2.10 Revenue Recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable for the sale of electricity, telecommunications and related 
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is 
shown net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts and 
after eliminating sales within the Group.

Customer consumption of electricity and gas is measured and 
billed by calendar month for half hourly metered customers and in 
line with meter reading schedules for non-half hourly metered 
customers. Accordingly revenues from electricity and gas sales 
include an estimated accrual for units sold but not billed at the end 
of the reporting period for non-half hourly metered customers. 

Customer consumption of telecommunications services is 
measured and billed according to monthly billing cycles. 
Accordingly revenues from telecommunications services provided 
include an estimated accrual for services provided but not billed at 
the end of the reporting period.

Meter rental revenue is charged and recognised on a per day basis.

Other customer fees and charges are recognised when the service 
is provided.

Operating lease revenue earned by Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd, 
Snowtown Wind Farm Stage 2 Pty Ltd and Snowtown South Wind 
Farm Pty Ltd is recognised when the services have been performed 
under the terms of the arrangements. Refer to note 6 for further 
details.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the 
effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is 
established.

2.11 Employee Entitlements
Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and other benefits are recognised when they 
accrue to employees. This includes the estimated liability for 
salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 
period. 

Share-based compensation

The Group operates cash-settled share based incentive schemes 
for key management personnel of the Parent.

The Group recognises an expense and a liability as the employees 
render services over the vesting period at the fair value of the liability. 
Until the liability is settled, the Group re-measures the fair value of the 
liability at the end of each reporting period and at the date of 
settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss 
for the period. The fair value of the liability is measured taking into 
account the terms and conditions of the scheme.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based 
on a formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to 
the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group 
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is 
a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated 
by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits 
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to their present value.

2.12 Foreign Currency Translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). 
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars, 
which is the Parent’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted to 
New Zealand dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities arising from foreign 
currency transactions are translated at closing rates at the end of 
the reporting period. Gains or losses from currency translation on 
these items are included in the income statement.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of 
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position 
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of the 
reporting period

•  income and expenses for each income statement are translated 
at average exchange rates

•  all resulting exchange rate differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, foreign exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of 
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges 
of such investments, are taken to the foreign currency translation 
reserve. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, 
such foreign exchange differences are recognised in the income 
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.13 Generation Development
The Group incurs costs in the exploration, evaluation, consenting and 
construction of generation assets. Costs incurred are expensed in 
the income statement unless such costs are likely to be recouped 
through successful development of, and generation of income from, 
a particular project. Where costs meet this criteria and are capitalised 
they will ultimately be amortised over the estimated useful life of a 
project once it is completed. The Directors review the status of 
capitalised development expenditure on a regular basis and in the 
event that a project is abandoned, or if the Directors consider the 
expenditure to be impaired, a write off or provision is made in the 
year in which that assessment is made. 

2.14 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised 
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement 
over the term of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.15 Insurance 
The Group has property, plant and equipment which is 
predominately concentrated at power station locations that has the 
potential to sustain major losses through damage to plant with 
resultant consequential costs.

To minimise the financial impact of such exposures, the major 
portion of the risk is insured by taking out appropriate insurance 
policies with appropriate counterparties. Any uninsured loss is 
recognised in the income statement at the time the loss is incurred.

2.16 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example land, are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Assets other than goodwill that suffer an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. 

2.17 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at 
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in 
the statement of financial position.

2.18 Cash Flow Statement
The following are the definitions used in the cash flow statement:

•  cash is considered to be cash on hand and deposits held at call 
with banks, net of bank overdrafts

•  operating activities include all activities that are not investing or 
financing activities

•  investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition, 
holding and disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and investments in subsidiaries

•  financing activities are those activities, which result in changes in 
the size and composition of the capital structure of the Group. This 
includes both equity and debt not falling within the definition of 
cash. Dividends paid in relation to the capital structure are included 
in financing activities.

2.19 Goods and Services Tax (GST)
The income statement and cash flow statement have been prepared 
so that all components are stated exclusive of GST. All items in the 
statement of financial position are stated exclusive of GST, with the 
exception of billed receivables and payables which include GST 
invoiced.

2.20 Income Tax
The income tax expense comprises both current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which 
case the income tax is recognised directly in equity.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. The 
following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction other than a 
business combination that at the time of transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments 
in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of 
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred tax liability (asset) is settled (realised).

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

2.21 Derivative Financial Instruments and 
Hedging Activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a 
derivative contract is entered into and are periodically remeasured at 
their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss 
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The 
Group designates certain derivatives as one of the following:

•  hedges of the fair value of recognised assets, liabilities or a firm 
commitment (fair value hedge)

•  hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow 
hedges)

•  hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the 
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well 
as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking 
various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of 
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of 
hedged items. The fair values of various derivative instruments used 
for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 21. Movements on the 
cash flow hedge reserve in equity are shown in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The full fair value of a derivative is classified 
as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
derivative is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current asset or 
liability when the remaining maturity of the derivative is less than 12 
months. 

Fair Value Hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, 
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or 
liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash Flow Hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that 
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in 
equity. The gain or loss relating to any ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income 
statement in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or 
loss. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results 
in the recognition of a non-financial asset, the gains and losses 
previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and 
included in the measurement of the cost of the asset.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no 
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain 
or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised in accordance with the above policy when the 
transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in 
equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Net Investment Hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for 
similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is 
recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.
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Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in 
the fair value of these derivative instruments that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income 
statement.

2.22 Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Where the Company purchases the Company’s equity share capital 
(treasury stock), the consideration paid is deducted from equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are 
cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently 
reissued, any consideration received is included in equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

2.23 Trade Payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

2.24 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.25 Dividend Distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised 
as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in 
which the dividend is approved by the Board.

2.26 Other Investments
Other investments include investments in non-Group companies as 
well as insurance investments. Insurance investments include 
government stock. 

2.27 Comparative Information
Where necessary certain comparative information has been 
reclassified in order to provide a more appropriate basis for 
comparison. These changes are not significant.

2.28 Adoption Status of Relevant 
New Financial Reporting Standards 
and Interpretations
The following new standards and amendments to standards were 
applied during the period: 

NZ IAS 1 Amendments Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income

The amendment requires entities to separate items presented in 
other comprehensive income into two groups, based on whether 
they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. This has not 
affected the measurement of any of the items recognised in the 
balance sheet or the income statement in the current period.

NZ IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

NZ IAS 27 is renamed Separate Financial Statements and is now a 
standard dealing solely with separate financial statements. 
Application of this standard by the Group and Parent entity has not 
affected any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, 
but impacts the type of information disclosed in relation to the 
parent’s investments in the separate parent entity financial 
statements.

NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 

NZ IFRS 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and 
consolidation in NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, and NZ SIC 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities. The core principle that a consolidated entity presents a 
parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a single economic entity 

remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of consolidation. 
However, the standard introduces a single definition of control that 
applies to all entities. It focuses on the need to have both power 
and rights or exposure to variable returns before control is present. 
Power is the current ability to direct the activities that significantly 
influence returns. Returns must vary and can be positive, negative 
or both. There is also new guidance on participating and protective 
rights and on agent/principal relationships. The new standard has 
not had any impact on the composition of the Group.

NZ IFRS 12 Disclosures of interests in other entities 

NZ IFRS 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting 
under the two new standards, NZ IFRS 10 and NZ IFRS 11, and 
replaces the disclosure requirements currently found in NZ IAS 28. 
Application of these standards by the Group has not affected any of 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but impacts the 
type of information disclosed in relation to the Group’s investments.

NZ IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 

NZ IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value and aims to 
enhance fair value disclosures. Adoption of NZ IFRS 13 has 
resulted in a change in the valuation methodology of the Group’s 
financial instruments. This change has had an immaterial impact on 
the reported values and has impacted the type of information 
disclosed in relation to the Group’s derivative financial instruments.

The Group has adopted these new standards and amendments 
from 1 April 2013. 

The following new standard has been issued but is not yet effective; 

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

This standard addresses the classification, measurement and 
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. 

NZ IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It 
replaces the parts of NZ IAS 39 that relate to the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments. NZ IFRS 9 requires financial 
assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those 
measured as at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. 
The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification 
depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial 
instruments and contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of NZ 
IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that in cases where the 
fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of the fair 
value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other 
comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless 
this creates an accounting mismatch. The Group is yet to assess 
NZ IFRS 9’s full impact and intends to adopt this standard from 
1 April 2015. 

There are no other NZ IFRSs or NZ IFRIC interpretations that are 
not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact 
on the Group.

Note 3: Underlying Earnings After Tax
GROUP

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company  115,121  123,351 

Fair value losses / (gains) on financial instruments 9  (9,448)  5,593 

Asset impairments 8  226  - 

Adjustments before income tax  (9,222)  5,593 

Change in income tax expense in relation to adjustments  2,582  (1,678)

Adjustments after income tax  (6,640)  3,915 

Underlying Earnings After Tax  108,481  127,266 

Underlying earnings after tax ($000)  108,481  127,266 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  313,500  314,347 

Underlying earnings per share (cents per share)  34.6  40.5 

Underlying earnings after tax is presented to allow stakeholders to make an assessment and comparison of underlying earnings after removing 
the non-cash fair value movements in financial instruments, any asset impairments, the effect of the change in corporate tax rules as well as 
other items that the Group considers to be one off in nature.

Note 4: Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares on issue during the year. 

GROUP PARENT

2014 2013 2014 2013

Profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company ($000)  115,121  123,351  108,684  120,825 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  313,500  314,347  313,500  314,347 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  36.7  39.2  34.7  38.4 

Note 5: Segment Information
As at 31 March 2014, the Group is organised into two main business segments:

•  development, ownership and operation of electricity generation facilities from renewable energy sources including the trading of energy with 
Retail and external parties (“Generation”)

•  purchase of energy from Generation and retail sale of electricity, gas and telecommunications services to customers (“Retail”)

The remaining activities of the Group are included in Other. This primarily relates to property services and some unallocated head office 
functions.

The Board has further segregated Generation into New Zealand and Australian operations. Generation New Zealand includes the metering 
business which does not meet the criteria to be disclosed as a separate operating segment. Retail operates only in New Zealand.
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Note 5: (continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2014 are as follows:

 Generation 
New Zealand 

$000

 Generation 
 Australia 

$000

 Retail 

$000

 Other
 

$000

 Total
 

$000

Total segment revenue  242,015  51,404  714,313  2,277  1,010,009 

Inter-segment revenue  (196,715)  -  -  (1,595)  (198,310)

Revenue from external customers  45,300  51,404  714,313  682  811,699 

EBITDAF  196,817  32,336  50,274  (2,021)  277,406 

Amortisation of intangible assets  -  -  3,995  6,624  10,619 

Depreciation  41,798  16,674  -  2,922  61,394 

Capital expenditure  19,890  295,887  14,897  19,065  349,739 

Asset impairment  226  -  -  -  226 

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2013 are as follows:

Total segment revenue  252,382  37,817  722,845  2,772  1,015,816 

Inter-segment revenue  (208,179)  -  -  (2,133)  (210,312)

Revenue from external customers  44,203  37,817  722,845  639  805,504 

EBITDAF  222,387  23,188  51,852  (2,671)  294,756 

Amortisation of intangible assets  -  -  3,063  4,867  7,930 

Depreciation  40,651  15,182  -  2,224  58,057 

Capital expenditure  26,971  166,461  -  13,647  207,079 

Asset impairment  -  -  -  -  - 

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms and conditions that would also be available to unrelated third 
parties. The Board does not distinguish between revenue from internal or external customers when measuring the performance of segments. All 
revenue is reported to the Board on a basis consistent with that used in the income statement.

Interest income and expenditure and taxation costs are not allocated to segments as these activities are managed at a Group level by a central 
treasury function.

The Board does not segregate assets and liabilities in assessing Group performance. 

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

Note 6: Electricity Revenue
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Electricity sales  704,759  731,465  699,461  727,215 

Electricity lease revenue  47,685  33,690  -  - 

 752,444  765,155  699,461  727,215 

Electricity lease revenue is revenue recognised in connection with Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd’s, Snowtown Wind Farm Stage 2 Pty Ltd’s and 
Snowtown South Wind Farm Pty Ltd’s (subsidiaries of the Company) Power Purchase Agreements to sell all energy generated by their wind 
farms to a significant Australian electricity retailer (90% of the output in the case of Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd). These agreements have been 
deemed as operating leases of the wind farms under NZ IFRS and all revenue under the contracts are accounted for as lease revenue. Because 
of the contract terms, in particular that the volume of energy supplied is variable dependent on the actual generation of the wind farms, the 
future minimum payments under the terms of the contracts, that expire between 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2030, are contingent in 
nature and therefore not able to be quantified.

Note 7: Other Operating Expenses
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Audit of financial statements  290  336  223  273 

Fees paid for other audit related services provided by the auditors*  79  94  79  94 

Fees paid for taxation advice and compliance services provided by the auditors  154  179  154  179 

Fees paid for financial modelling services provided by the auditors  25  -  25  - 

Bad debts written off 40  1,432  1,492  1,432  1,492 

Directors' fees 36  628  577  628  577 

Donations  721  784  644  762 

Loss/(gain) on foreign exchange  (1,721)  (1,151)  (1,635)  (676)

Generation development expenditure  10,455  9,265  3,326  2,494 

Marketing expenditure  7,300  3,006  7,300  3,006 

Computer maintenance and support costs  5,635  4,700  5,635  4,700 

Other administration costs  12,160  10,366  12,206  10,361 

Rental and operating lease costs  627  467  20,057  19,408 

 37,785  30,115  50,074  42,670 

* Other audit related services provided by the auditors includes reviews of unaudited interim financial statements and carbon assurance services. 

The Parent entity reimburses subsidiaries for the use of generation assets and records these as rental and operating lease costs. The future 
minimum payments are contingent in nature and therefore not able to be quantified. 

Note 8: Impairment of Assets
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  791  -  791  - 

Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment  (565)  -  (565)  - 

Impairment of advances to subsidiaries 22  -  -  1,479  2,841 

 226  -  1,705  2,841 

Note 9: Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Financial Instruments
The changes in the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the income statement and the cash flow hedge reserve for the year to 31 
March 2014 are summarised below:

GROUP PARENT

Recognised in the income statement
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Interest rate derivatives  10,873  (5,119)  7,153  (3,247)

Electricity price derivatives  (1,425)  (474)  (1,425)  (474)

 9,448  (5,593)  5,728  (3,721)

GROUP PARENT

Recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Interest rate derivatives  479  63  479  63 

Electricity price derivatives  11,178  (17,050)  11,178  (17,050)

Exchange rate derivatives  3,180  (3,031)  (1,346)  (1,844)

 14,837  (20,018)  10,311  (18,831)
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Note 10: Finance Income and Costs
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,784  1,889  1,784  1,889 

Interest paid on unsecured bank loans  25,185  16,429  4,043  4,253 

Interest paid on unsecured subordinated bonds  22,276  22,709  22,276  22,709 

Interest paid on unsecured senior bonds  16,225  16,225  16,225  16,225 

Other interest costs and fees  12,891  11,747  3,977  4,220 

Interest capitalised in construction of property, plant and equipment  (15,146)  (4,780)  (474)  (514)

Total Interest Paid  63,215  64,219  47,831  48,782 

Interest received on cash at bank  1,487  1,472  921  895 

Interest received on intercompany advances  -  -  3,689  2,425 

Total Interest Received  1,487  1,472  4,610  3,320 

The capitalisation rate ranged from 5.6% to 8.3% in the year to 31 March 2014 (2013: 6.7% to 8.2%).

Note 11: Income Tax Expense
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Profit before income tax  152,887  160,429  149,905  167,630 

Tax on profit @ 28%  42,808  44,920  41,973  46,936 

Foreign tax rate adjustment  31  (301)  -  - 

Tax effect of non-assessable revenue  (2,934)  (6,724)  (537)  678 

Prior year tax losses not previously recognised  (3,017)  -  -  - 

Income tax under/(over) provided in prior year  878  (817)  (215)  (809)

 37,766  37,078  41,221  46,805 

Represented by:

Current tax  32,017  39,464  36,967  44,321 

Deferred tax 30  5,749  (2,386)  4,254  2,484 

 37,766  37,078  41,221  46,805 

The 28% tax rate used above is the corporate tax rate payable by New Zealand corporate entities on taxable profit under New Zealand tax law.

Note 12: Dividends on Ordinary Shares
GROUP & PARENT GROUP & PARENT

2014 2013 2014 2013
Cents Per Share $000 $000

Dividends (forfeited)/reinstated  -  -  (165)  (152)

Final dividend prior year  20.0  20.0  62,800  62,796 

Interim dividend paid current year  20.0  20.0  62,641  62,803 

Supplementary dividend paid  -  -  127  156 

Foreign investor tax credit  -  -  (127)  (156)

 40.0  40.0  125,276  125,447 

Final partially imputed dividend declared subsequent to the end of the reporting 
period payable 13 June 2014 to all shareholders on the register at 30 May 2014.

20.0  20.0 62,597  62,803 

Note 13: Other Comprehensive Income
GROUP

For the year ended 31 March 2014

Revaluation 
reserve

$000

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
$000

Other 
reserves

$000

Retained 
earnings

$000
Total
$000

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Asset impairments  (4,268)  -  -  -  (4,268)

Currency translation differences on revaluation reserve  (11,299)  -  -  -  (11,299)

Other currency translation differences  -  -  (6,796)  -  (6,796)

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges

 Realised  -  36,910  -  -  36,910 

 Unrealised  -  (22,348)  -  -  (22,348)

Unrealised movements in employee share option reserve  -  -  -  -  - 

Tax effect of the following:

 Asset impairments  (92)  -  -  -  (92)

 Disposal of revalued assets  74  -  -  -  74 

 Other currency translation differences  -  -  (7,625)  -  (7,625)

 Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges  -  (4,558)  -  -  (4,558)

Total Other Comprehensive Income  (15,585)  10,004  (14,421)  -  (20,002)

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Revaluation 
reserve

$000

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
$000

Other 
reserves

$000

Retained 
earnings

$000
Total
$000

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Currency translation differences on revaluation reserve  (1,405)  -  -  -  (1,405)

Other currency translation differences  -  -  (1,031)  -  (1,031)

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges

 Realised  -  6,869  -  -  6,869 

 Unrealised  -  (27,162)  -  -  (27,162)

Unrealised movements in employee share option reserve  -  -  (3)  -  (3)

Tax effect of the following:

 Disposal of revalued assets  18  -  -  -  18 

 Other currency translation differences  -  -  (493)  -  (493)

 Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges  -  5,705  -  -  5,705 

Total Other Comprehensive Income  (1,387)  (14,588)  (1,527)  -  (17,502)
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Note 13: (continued)

PARENT

For the year ended 31 March 2014

Revaluation 
reserve

$000

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
$000

Other 
reserves

$000

Retained 
earnings

$000
Total
$000

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Asset impairments  (4,268)  -  -  -  (4,268)

Currency translation differences on revaluation reserve  -  -  -  -  - 

Other currency translation differences - - - -  - 

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges

 Realised  -  8,368  -  -  8,368 

 Unrealised  -  1,668  -  -  1,668 

Unrealised movements in employee share option reserve  -  -  -  -  - 

Tax effect of the following:

 Asset impairments  (92)  -  -  -  (92)

 Disposal of revalued assets  74  -  -  -  74 

 Other currency translation differences  -  -  -  -  - 

 Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges  -  (2,810)  -  -  (2,810)

Total Other Comprehensive Income  (4,286)  7,226  -  -  2,940 

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Revaluation 
reserve

$000

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
$000

Other 
reserves

$000

Retained 
earnings

$000
Total
$000

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Currency translation differences on revaluation reserve  -  -  -  -  - 

Other currency translation differences  -  -  -  -  - 

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges

 Realised  -  8,504  -  -  8,504 

 Unrealised  -  (27,610)  -  -  (27,610)

Unrealised movements in employee share option reserve  -  -  (3)  -  (3)

Tax effect of the following:

 Disposal of revalued assets  18  -  -  -  18 

 Other currency translation differences  -  -  -  -  - 

 Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges  -  5,349  -  -  5,349 

Total Other Comprehensive Income  18  (13,757)  (3)  -  (13,742)

Note 14: Share Capital
GROUP & PARENT GROUP & PARENT

2014 2013 2014 2013

000’s of Shares $000 $000

Authorised and issued ordinary shares at beginning of year  314,015  314,016  166,108  166,078 

Own shares repurchased  (1,078)  (37)  (7,423)  (260)

Issue of shares to management  7  -  51  - 

Purchase of treasury shares by Directors  43  36  298  290 

 312,987  314,015  159,034  166,108 

All shares rank equally with one vote attached to each share, have no par value and are fully paid. 

On 15 May 2008, the Company announced a resolution allowing it to buy back up to 5,000,000 of its own shares. Shareholders approved an 
extension to the share buyback programme in July 2011. As at 31 March 2014, since the start of the buyback programme, 2,871,000 shares 
had been purchased at a total cost of $20,135,000 (2013: 1,793,000 shares at a total cost of $12,712,000). All shares repurchased were 
purchased through the NZX stock exchange at market price. As at 31 March 2014 105,000 of these shares had been reissued or cancelled 
(2013: 56,000).

Note 15: Revaluation Reserve
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at beginning of year  1,025,063  1,026,513  861,509  861,554 

Asset impairments  (4,268)  -  (4,268)  - 

Transfer (to)/from deferred tax liability 30  (18)  18  (18)  18 

Transfer (to)/from retained earnings 16  (266)  (63)  (266)  (63)

Foreign exchange movements  (11,299)  (1,405)  -  - 

 1,009,212  1,025,063  856,957  861,509 

There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve to the equity holders of the Company.

Note 16: Retained Earnings
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at beginning of year  359,317  361,350  352,842  357,401 

Profit for the year  115,121  123,351  108,684  120,825 

Transfer (to)/from revaluation reserve 15  266  63  266  63 

Dividends on ordinary shares 12  (125,276)  (125,447)  (125,276)  (125,447)

 349,428  359,317  336,516  352,842 

Note 17: Cash Flow Hedge Reserve
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at beginning of year  (9,390)  5,198  (8,559)  5,198 

Fair value gains/(losses)  (22,348)  (27,162)  1,668  (27,610)

Transfers to energy cost expense  6,976  6,129  6,976  6,129 

Transfers to property, plant and equipment  28,542  (1,635)  -  - 

Transfers to other operating revenue  1,322  2,291  1,322  2,291 

Transfers to interest paid  70  84  70  84 

 14,562  (20,293)  10,036  (19,106)

Tax on fair value (gains)/losses  6,348  7,595  (467)  7,730 

Tax on transfers to energy cost expense  (1,953)  (1,716)  (1,953)  (1,716)

Tax on transfers to property, plant and equipment  (8,563)  491  -  - 

Tax on transfers to other operating revenue  (370)  (641)  (370)  (641)

Tax on transfers to interest paid  (20)  (24)  (20)  (24)

 (4,558)  5,705  (2,810)  5,349 

 614  (9,390)  (1,333)  (8,559)
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Note 18: Other Reserves
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  10,665  12,189  -  - 

Transfer to deferred tax  (7,625)  (493)  -  - 

Currency translation differences  (6,796)  (1,031)  -  - 

 (3,756)  10,665  -  - 

Employee Share Option Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  -  3  -  3 

Fair value movements charged to the income statement  -  (3)  -  (3)

 -  -  -  - 

Total Other Reserves  (3,756)  10,665  -  - 

Note 19: Cash and Cash Equivalents
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Cash at bank  31,723  53,972  2,614  31,117 

 31,723  53,972  2,614  31,117 

Note 20: Accounts Receivable and Prepayments
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current Portion:

Billed debtors and unbilled sales  78,076  81,275  78,076  81,275 

Provision for doubtful debts 40  (1,600)  (1,700)  (1,600)  (1,700)

Electricity market receivables  34,581  39,978  31,507  37,903 

Other receivables  14,267  12,842  7,743  9,872 

GST receivable  1,449  951  -  - 

Prepayments  4,742  3,068  2,957  2,106 

 131,515  136,414  118,683  129,456 

Non-current Portion:

Prepayments  764  3,051  -  - 

 764  3,051  -  - 

Note 21: Derivative Financial Instruments
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current

Interest rate derivative assets  135  482  -  - 

Electricity price derivative assets  2,216  1,451  2,216  1,451 

Exchange rate derivative assets  2,781  2,297  -  1,346 

 5,132  4,230  2,216  2,797 

Interest rate derivative liabilities  614  788  514  - 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  2,293  303  2,293  303 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  2,237  -  - 

 2,907  3,328  2,807  303 

Non-current

Interest rate derivative assets  4,136  4,806  2,906  4,558 

Electricity price derivative assets  371  37  371  37 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  98  -  - 

 4,507  4,941  3,277  4,595 

Interest rate derivative liabilities  8,701  21,840  3,632  13,431 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  5,265  14,559  5,265  14,559 

 13,966  36,399  8,897  27,990 

See notes 39 and 40 for details on fair value estimation and details of the hedge relationships.

Note 22: Advances to Subsidiaries
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Net advances to subsidiaries  -  -  140,623  155,945 

Impairment of advances to subsidiaries 39  -  -  (23,361)  (25,392)

 -  -  117,262  130,553 
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Note 23: Property, Plant and Equipment
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Generation Assets
Balance at beginning of year
Fair value  2,482,456  2,488,312  1,880,991  1,881,000 
Cost  8,646  -  7,001  - 
Capital work in progress  196,651  19,474  26,227  14,721 
Accumulated depreciation  (49,440)  -  (15,855)  - 

 2,638,313  2,507,786  1,898,364  1,895,721 

Additions at cost  308,916  188,034  10,881  18,509 
Depreciation  (52,146)  (49,898)  (16,448)  (16,025)
Disposals at net book value  (331)  (9)  (331)  (9)
Foreign exchange movements  (77,615)  (7,778)  -  - 
Revaluations/transfers/impairments  (3,513)  178  (3,514)  168 

Balance at end of year
Fair value  2,436,085  2,482,456  1,880,991  1,880,991 
Cost  255,297  8,646  13,931  7,001 
Capital work in progress  220,825  196,651  26,137  26,227 
Accumulated depreciation  (98,583)  (49,440)  (32,107)  (15,855)

 2,813,624  2,638,313  1,888,952  1,898,364 

Metering Equipment
Balance at beginning of year
Cost  79,791  76,642  79,791  76,642 
Accumulated depreciation  (47,684)  (42,226)  (47,684)  (42,226)

 32,107  34,416  32,107  34,416 

Additions at cost  741  3,138  741  3,138 
Depreciation  (5,707)  (5,501)  (5,707)  (5,501)
Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 
Transfers  66  54  66  54 

Balance at end of year
Cost  80,532  79,791  80,532  79,791 
Accumulated depreciation  (53,325)  (47,684)  (53,325)  (47,684)

 27,207  32,107  27,207  32,107 

Other Freehold Buildings
Balance at beginning of year
Cost  13,931  14,011  11,220  11,326 
Accumulated depreciation  (3,961)  (3,698)  (3,785)  (3,553)

 9,970  10,313  7,435  7,773 

Additions at cost  715  126  659  100 
Depreciation  (287)  (266)  (256)  (235)
Disposals at net book value  -  (25)  -  (25)
Transfers  (4)  (178)  (3)  (178)

Balance at end of year
Cost  14,644  13,931  11,878  11,220 
Accumulated depreciation  (4,250)  (3,961)  (4,043)  (3,785)

 10,394  9,970  7,835  7,435 

Note 23: (continued)

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Other Freehold Land
Balance at beginning of year
Cost  16,709  16,710  7,554  7,555 

Additions at cost  287  1  283  1 
Disposals at cost  -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange movements  (5)  -  -  - 
Transfers  (3)  (2)  (2)  (2)

Balance at end of year
Cost  16,988  16,709  7,835  7,554 

Other Plant and Equipment
Balance at beginning of year
Cost  35,137  29,828  27,588  23,236 
Accumulated depreciation  (15,648)  (14,068)  (15,029)  (13,708)

 19,489  15,760  12,559  9,528 

Additions at cost  3,477  6,447  2,849  5,357 
Depreciation  (3,254)  (2,392)  (2,846)  (2,137)
Disposals at net book value  (184)  (159)  (184)  (147)
Foreign exchange movements  (860)  (115)  -  - 
Transfers  (262)  (52)  (260)  (42)

Balance at end of year
Cost  36,797  35,137  29,564  27,588 
Accumulated depreciation  (18,391)  (15,648)  (17,446)  (15,029)

 18,406  19,489  12,118  12,559 

Total
Balance at beginning of year
Fair value  2,482,456  2,488,312  1,880,991  1,881,000 
Cost  154,214  137,191  133,154  118,759 
Capital work in progress  196,651  19,474  26,227  14,721 
Accumulated depreciation  (116,733)  (59,992)  (82,353)  (59,487)

 2,716,588  2,584,985  1,958,019  1,954,993 

Additions at cost  314,136  197,746  15,413  27,105 
Depreciation  (61,394)  (58,057)  (25,257)  (23,898)
Disposals at net book value  (515)  (193)  (515)  (181)
Foreign exchange movements  (78,480)  (7,893)  -  - 
Revaluations/transfers/impairments  (3,716)  -  (3,713)  - 

Balance at end of year
Fair value  2,436,085  2,482,456  1,880,991  1,880,991 
Cost  404,258  154,214  143,740  133,154 
Capital work in progress – generation assets  220,825  196,651  26,137  26,227 
Accumulated depreciation  (174,549)  (116,733)  (106,921)  (82,353)

 2,886,619  2,716,588  1,943,947  1,958,019 

If generation assets were stated on an historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:
Generation assets (at cost)  1,726,189  1,510,333  1,003,214  992,243 
Generation assets under construction (at cost)  220,825  196,651  26,137  26,227 
Generation assets accumulated depreciation  (409,891)  (359,824)  (183,776)  (167,328)

 1,537,123  1,347,160  845,575  851,142 

Generation assets include freehold land and buildings which are not separately identifiable from other generation assets. Generation assets were 
independently revalued, using a discounted cash flow methodology, as at 31 March 2012 to their estimated market value as assessed by 
Deloitte Corporate Finance. See note 39 for a description of the inputs used.

Included in the capital work in progress as at 31 March 2014 are capitalised borrowing costs of $8,287,000 (2013: $4,807,000).
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Note 24: Investments in Subsidiaries
Parent and Group

Significant subsidiaries (31 March balance dates)
Country of incorporation 
and place of business 

% owned  
by Parent 

% owned  
by Group 

Nature of  
business 

Church Lane Wind Farm Pty Ltd (from 7 June 2013) Australia - 100 Generation development 

Dundonnell Wind Farm Pty Ltd (from 7 June 2013) Australia - 100 Generation development 

Energy Direct NZ Limited (from 3 March 2014) New Zealand 100 100 Electricity and gas retailing 

Salt Creek Wind Farm Pty Ltd (from 7 June 2013) Australia - 100 Generation development 

Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia - 100 Generation development 

Snowtown South Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia - 100 Electricity generation 

Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia - 100 Electricity generation 

Snowtown Wind Farm Stage 2 Pty Ltd Australia - 100 Electricity generation 

Tararua Wind Power Limited New Zealand 100 100 Asset holding 

Trustpower Australia (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand 100 100 Asset holding 

Trustpower Australia Financing Partnership Australia - 100 Financing 

Trustpower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd Australia - 100 Generation development 

Trustpower Insurance Limited New Zealand 100 100 Captive insurance 

Trustpower Market Services Pty Ltd Australia - 100 Financial services 

Wingeel Wind Farm Pty Ltd (from 7 June 2013) Australia - 100 Generation development 

The entities acquired on 7 June 2013 contain development rights and landowner agreements for potential wind farm sites in Australia. Apart 
from some minor property, plant and equipment the acquisition cost has been expensed as part of generation development expenditure.

Note 25: Intangible Assets
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Customer Base Assets

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  64,994  64,994  64,994  64,994 

Accumulated amortisation  (47,415)  (44,352)  (47,415)  (44,352)

 17,579  20,642  17,579  20,642 

Additions at cost 38  14,897  -  14,897  - 

Amortisation  (3,995)  (3,063)  (3,995)  (3,063)

Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  79,891  64,994  79,891  64,994 

Accumulated amortisation  (51,410)  (47,415)  (51,410)  (47,415)

 28,481  17,579  28,481  17,579 

Computer Software

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  44,499  35,305  44,499  35,305 

Accumulated amortisation  (14,780)  (10,052)  (14,780)  (10,052)

 29,719  25,253  29,719  25,253 

Additions at cost  16,535  9,333  16,535  9,333 

Amortisation  (6,624)  (4,867)  (6,624)  (4,867)

Disposals at net book value  (50)  -  (50)  - 

Transfers  7  -  7  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  60,982  44,499  60,982  44,499 

Accumulated amortisation  (21,395)  (14,780)  (21,395)  (14,780)

 39,587  29,719  39,587  29,719 

Note 25: (continued)

GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Indefinite Life Goodwill

Balance at beginning of year  -  -  -  - 

Additions at cost 38  4,171  -  4,171  - 

Balance at end of year  4,171  -  4,171  - 

Total

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  109,493  100,299  109,493  100,299 

Accumulated amortisation  (62,195)  (54,404)  (62,195)  (54,404)

 47,298  45,895  47,298  45,895 

Additions at cost  35,603  9,333  35,603  9,333 

Amortisation  (10,619)  (7,930)  (10,619)  (7,930)

Disposals at net book value  (50)  -  (50)  - 

Transfers  7  -  7  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  145,044  109,493  145,044  109,493 

Accumulated amortisation  (72,805)  (62,195)  (72,805)  (62,195)

 72,239  47,298  72,239  47,298 

There are no individually material intangible assets included within the above. There are no material internally generated intangible assets. The 
customer base assets acquired were acquired as part of a business combination (see note 38 for details).

Note 26: Accounts Payable and Accruals
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current Portion

Capital expenditure accruals  -  2,124  -  - 

Customer bond deposits  826  861  826  861 

Electricity market payables  44,712  54,796  44,712  54,796 

Line cost accrual  1,207  1,298  1,207  1,298 

Employee entitlements  7,734  6,898  7,682  6,841 

Interest accruals  3,752  4,263  2,740  2,986 

GST payable  2,558  1,374  2,167  1,045 

Other accounts payable and accruals  20,685  12,339  17,881  11,461 

Trade accounts payable  40,955  36,510  40,746  36,498 

 122,429  120,463  117,961  115,786 

Non-current Portion

Other accounts payable and accruals  3,856  4,064  3,856  4,064 

 3,856  4,064  3,856  4,064 
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Note 27: Unsecured Bank Loans
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

New Zealand dollar facilities
Repayment terms:
Less than one year  -  -  -  - 
One to two years  -  -  -  - 
Two to five years  43,800  -  43,800  - 
Over five years  101,082  112,338  101,082  112,338 
Facility establishment costs  (2,780)  (3,355)  (2,780)  (3,355)

 142,102  108,983  142,102  108,983 

Weighted average interest:
One to two years  -  -  -  - 
Two to five years 4.1%  - 4.1%  - 
Over five years 3.9% 3.5% 3.9% 3.5%

4.0% 3.5% 4.0% 3.5%

Australian dollar facilities
Repayment terms:
Less than one year  235,203  224,176  -  - 
One to two years  -  127,033  -  - 
Two to five years  172,126  -  -  - 
Over five years  173,089  -  -  - 
Facility establishment costs  -  -  -  - 

 580,418  351,209  -  - 

Weighted average interest:
Less than one year 3.5% 4.2%  -  - 
One to two years  - 3.8%  -  - 
Two to five years 3.7%  -  -  - 
Over five years 5.2%  -  -  - 

4.1% 4.1%  -  - 

Total bank loans  722,520  460,192  142,102  108,983 

Current portion  193,508  24,908  -  - 
Non-current portion  529,012  435,284  142,102  108,983 

 722,520  460,192  142,102  108,983 

Interest rates paid during the year ranged from 3.0% to 5.4%.

The Group has the following loan facilities with interest priced at between call and 180 day rates:

(i) $100,000,000 revolving loan expiring in one to two years

(ii) $75,000,000 revolving loan expiring in two to five years

(iii) $59,416,000 table loan maturing in over five years

(iv) $41,667,000 table loan maturing in over five years

(v) AUD 75,000,000 revolving loan expiring in two to five years

(vi) AUD 125,000,000 revolving loan expiring in two to five years

(vii) AUD 220,000,000 revolving loan expiring in under one year

(viii) AUD 171,900,000 table loan maturing in over five years

Where drawn facilities mature within one year and the Group has an unconditional right to refinance the loans through undrawn facilities with the 
same lenders with maturity dates of greater than one year from the end of the reporting period, the loan is considered non-current.

All of the Group’s borrowings are unsecured. The Group borrows under a negative pledge arrangement with its bank loan providers, which with 
limited exceptions does not permit the Group to grant any security interest over its assets. The negative pledge deed requires the Group to 
maintain certain levels of shareholders’ funds and operate within defined performance and debt gearing ratios. The banking arrangements may 
also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain assets unless the bank loans are repaid or renegotiated, specifically:

•   Facilities (i), (ii), (v), (vi) and (vii) require a continuation of the existing business operations. There are no costs to cancel the facilities.

•   Facility (iii) requires continued ownership by the Group of at least 30% in relation to Tararua Stage III wind generation assets with a book value 
of $138,095,000. There are no costs to cancel the facility. 

•  Facility (vii) must be repaid if Snowtown South Wind Farm Pty Ltd is sold.

Note 27: (continued)

Throughout the period the Group has complied with all debt covenant requirements as imposed by lenders (see the previous page for 
requirements).

Subsequent to balance date the Group has accepted offers to refinance the AUD 220,000,000 facility expiring in under one year. This facility is 
currently being extended in two new facilities, both maturing within two to five years, and totalling AUD 220,000,000. The condition that the 
facility must be repaid if Snowtown South Wind Farm Pty Ltd is sold has been removed. No other terms or conditions are materially different 
from the existing facility.

The fair value of these bank loans is not materially different to the carrying values on the previous page.

Note 28: Unsecured Subordinated Bonds
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Repayment terms and interest:

Maturing in March 2014, 8.5% p.a. fixed coupon rate  -  54,713  -  54,713 

Maturing in December 2015, 8.4% p.a. fixed coupon rate  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000 

Maturing in September 2019, 6.75% p.a. fixed coupon rate  140,000  140,000  140,000  140,000 

Bond issue costs  (1,789)  (2,338)  (1,789)  (2,338)

 238,211  292,375  238,211  292,375 

Current portion  -  54,713  -  54,713 

Non-current portion  238,211  237,662  238,211  237,662 

 238,211  292,375  238,211  292,375 

At maturity the bonds maturing in December 2015 and prior can be converted at the option of the Company to ordinary shares based on the 
market price of ordinary shares at the time. The bonds are fully subordinated behind all other creditors.

At 31 March 2014 the subordinated bonds had a fair value of $247,545,000 (31 March 2013: $312,930,000). They have been classified within 
the fair value hierarchy as level 1, see note 40 for a definition of the levels.

Note 29: Unsecured Senior Bonds 
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Repayment terms and interest:

Maturing in December 2014, 7.6% p.a. fixed coupon rate  75,000  75,000  75,000  75,000 

Maturing in December 2016, 8.0% p.a. fixed coupon rate  65,000  65,000  65,000  65,000 

Maturing in December 2017, 7.1% p.a. fixed coupon rate  75,000  75,000  75,000  75,000 

Bond issue costs  (1,502)  (2,162)  (1,502)  (2,162)

 213,498  212,838  213,498  212,838 

Current portion  75,000  -  75,000  - 

Non-current portion  138,498  212,838  138,498  212,838 

 213,498  212,838  213,498  212,838 

The Group has entered a Master Trust Deed dated 30 October 2009 (the Trust Deed) with respect to its senior bonds, which with limited 
exceptions does not permit the Group to grant any security interest over its assets. The Trust Deed requires the Group to operate within defined 
performance and debt gearing ratios. The arrangements under the Trust Deed may also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain 
assets unless the senior bonds are repaid or renegotiated.

Throughout the period the Group has complied with all debt covenant requirements as imposed by the Bond Trustee (see above for 
requirements).

The unsecured senior bonds rank equally with bank loans (note 27).

At 31 March 2014 the senior bonds had a fair value of $225,134,000 (31 March 2013: $230,681,000). They have been classified within the fair 
value hierarchy as level 1, see note 40 for a definition of the levels.
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Note 30: Deferred Income Tax
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at beginning of year  292,123  300,215  221,057  223,940 

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting tax expense 11  5,267  (2,366)  3,925  2,478 

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting reserves  12,201  (4,772)  2,828  (5,367)

Reclassification of prior year temporary differences 11  482  (468)  329  6 

Acquired as part of business combination 38  4,171  -  4,171  - 

Exchange rate movements on foreign denominated deferred tax  (4,482)  (486)  -  - 

Total deferred tax liabilities  309,762  292,123  232,310  221,057 

Comprising:

Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered after more than 12 months  307,420  296,607  232,410  225,945 

Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered within 12 months  2,342  (4,484)  (100)  (4,888)

 309,762  292,123  232,310  221,057 

The tables below show the break down of the temporary differences that make up the deferred tax liabilities and their movement for the year.

GROUP 

For the year ended 31 March 2014 ($000)
Opening
Balance

Acquired 
with

Business
Combination

Charged to
Income

Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity
Closing
Balance

Revaluations  226,689  -  -  (5,111)  221,578 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  74,790  -  3,603  919  79,312 

Employee benefits  (1,656)  -  (130)  2  (1,784)

Provision for impairment  (476)  -  28  -  (448)

Customer base assets  4,921  4,171  (1,118)  -  7,974 

Financial instruments  (9,003)  -  3,364  4,284  (1,355)

Unrealised losses on Australian dollar loan  (3,336)  -  -  7,625  4,289 

Other  194  -  2  -  196 

 292,123  4,171  5,749  7,719  309,762 

GROUP 

For the year ended 31 March 2013 ($000)
Opening
Balance

Acquired 
with

Business
Combination

Charged to
Income

Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity
Closing
Balance

Revaluations  227,344  -  -  (655)  226,689 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  73,948  -  771  71  74,790 

Employee benefits  (1,422)  -  (234)  -  (1,656)

Provision for impairment  (504)  -  28  -  (476)

Customer base assets  5,779  -  (858)  -  4,921 

Financial instruments  (2,100)  -  (1,239)  (5,664)  (9,003)

Unrealised losses on Australian dollar loan  (3,829)  -  -  493  (3,336)

Other  999  -  (805)  -  194 

 300,215  -  (2,337)  (5,755)  292,123 

Note 30: (continued)

PARENT 

For the year ended 31 March 2014 ($000)
Opening
Balance

Acquired 
with

Business
Combination

Charged to
Income

Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity
Closing
Balance

Revaluations  171,028  -  -  18  171,046 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  53,136  -  3,224  -  56,360 

Employee benefits  (1,640)  -  (130)  -  (1,770)

Provision for impairment  (476)  -  28  -  (448)

Customer base assets  4,921  4,171  (1,118)  -  7,974 

Financial instruments  (6,106)  -  2,248  2,810  (1,048)

Other  194  -  2  -  196 

 221,057  4,171  4,254  2,828  232,310 

PARENT 

For the year ended 31 March 2013 ($000)
Opening
Balance

Acquired 
with

Business
Combination

Charged to
Income

Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity
Closing
Balance

Revaluations  171,046  -  -  (18)  171,028 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  48,105  -  5,031  -  53,136 

Employee benefits  (1,422)  -  (218)  -  (1,640)

Provision for impairment  (504)  -  28  -  (476)

Customer base assets  5,779  -  (858)  -  4,921 

Financial instruments  (63)  -  (693)  (5,350)  (6,106)

Other  999  -  (805)  -  194 

 223,940  -  2,485  (5,368)  221,057 

Note 31: Net Tangible Assets Per Share
GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Total net assets ($000)  1,514,532  1,551,763  1,351,174  1,371,900 

Less intangible assets ($000)  (72,239)  (47,298)  (72,239)  (47,298)

Net tangible assets ($000)  1,442,293  1,504,465  1,278,935  1,324,602 

Number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 14  312,987  314,015  312,987  314,015 

Net tangible assets per share (dollars per share)  4.61  4.79  4.09  4.22 

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Revaluation 
reserve

$000

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
$000

Other 
reserves

$000

Retained 
earnings

$000
Total
$000
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Note 32: Reconciliation of Net Cash from Operating Activities with 
Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company  115,121  123,351  108,684  120,825 

Items classified as investing/financing

Interest paid  61,796  61,404  46,568  47,222 

Interest received  (1,490)  (1,497)  (4,610)  (3,321)

 60,306  59,907  41,958  43,901 

Non-cash items:

Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,784  1,889  1,784  1,889 

Non-cash transfer from cash flow hedge reserve to interest expense  (275)  (275)  (275)  (275)

Amortisation of other investments  3  13  -  - 

Amortisation of intangible assets  10,619  7,930  10,619  7,930 

Depreciation  61,394  58,057  25,257  23,898 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  137  (104)  137  (41)

Impairment of assets  226  -  1,705  2,841 

Share based staff remuneration  51  (3)  51  (3)

Movement in derivative financial instruments taken to the income statement  (9,448)  5,593  (5,728)  3,721 

Intercompany charges  -  -  19,781  22,981 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability excluding transfers to reserves  10,113  (2,375)  8,423  2,485 

 74,604  70,725  61,754  65,426 

Decrease/(increase) in working capital:

Accounts receivable and prepayments  3,041  (26,446)  6,908  (25,444)

Taxation payable/receivable  (6,326)  (4,289)  (1,685)  (2,869)

Accounts payable and accruals excluding capital expenditure accruals  10,017  17,860  9,223  22,585 

 6,732  (12,875)  14,446  (5,728)

Net cash from operating activities  256,763  241,108  226,842  224,424 

Note 33: Imputation Credit Account
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Imputation credits available for use in subsequent reporting periods  11,891  13,954  10,780  12,989 

The above amounts represent the balance of the imputation account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for imputation credits that 
will arise from the payment of the amount of taxation payable. The consolidated amounts include imputation credits that would be available to 
the parent if subsidiaries paid dividends.

Note 34: Commitments
GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Capital Commitments  50,494  360,116  300  3,072 

The capital commitments include construction contracts relating to the construction of stage two of the Snowtown Wind Farm in South Australia 
along with other smaller projects.

Electricity Purchase Commitments

The Parent has a contract with Pioneer Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its various generation sites. This commitment 
cannot be quantified.

The Parent has a contract with Mighty River Power Limited to purchase the output from the Rotokawa geothermal power station. This 
commitment cannot be quantified.

The Parent has a contract with Opuha Water Limited to purchase the output from its hydropower station. This commitment cannot be quantified.

The Parent has a contract with Amethyst Hydro Limited to purchase the output from its hydropower station. This commitment cannot be quantified.

The Parent has a contract with Ngawha Generation Limited to purchase the output from its geothermal station from 1 July 2014. This 
commitment cannot be quantified.

Gas Purchase Commitment

The Parent has a contract with Origin Energy Resources NZ (Rimu) Limited to purchase output from its Rimu gas field. This commitment cannot 
be quantified.

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Operating Leases

Not later than 1 year  199  -  199  - 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  7,649  -  7,649  - 

Later than 5 years  29,627  -  29,627  - 

Total operating lease commitments  37,475  -  37,475  - 

The operating leases relates to the rental of ten office buildings throughout New Zealand as well as the Parent’s head office which is currently 
under construction.

Note 35: Contingent Liabilities and Subsequent Events
Trustpower was successful in its High Court case against Inland Revenue. The Court ruled that Trustpower’s existing tax treatment of feasibility 
expenditure incurred in the 2006 to 2008 financial years was appropriate and disagreed with Inland Revenue’s view that the resource consents 
acquired were capital assets. 

Inland Revenue has appealed this decision. The date this appeal will be heard by the Appeal Court has not yet been set. Should Inland Revenue 
be completely successful in its claim for all three years, the resulting liability would give rise to a tax payment of $5,924,000 and interest expense 
of $2,920,000. Following the statutory disputes process, Inland Revenue has now begun the reassessment of the 2009 and 2010 years, 
proposing tax payments of $2,632,000 and interest expense of $1,088,000. Based on the principle of the assessment and the proposed 
reassessments, the Group would need to revise its policy for capitalising the costs of resource consents for tax purposes in the 2011 and future 
years. This would give rise to a further estimated tax payment of $2,018,000 and interest expense of $314,000 in respect of the 2011 to 2014 
years. This would primarily result in a balance sheet adjustment in the financial statements as most resource consents are depreciable intangible 
property. The impact of these adjustments on the tax expense in the income statement is difficult to estimate but is unlikely to exceed 
$2,500,000 for all years up to March 2014. 

Trustpower has been awarded costs in relation to the High Court case. The parties are unable to agree on the amount and the matter has been 
referred back to the Court for a decision. This hearing is set to occur on 13 October 2014. The award is likely to be between $640,000 and 
$1,400,000. Subsequent to balance date the Inland Revenue has paid the undisputed $640,000. The awarding of costs has also been appealed 
and is therefore contingent on the outcome of the Appeal Court case noted above.

The Group is not aware of any other material contingent liabilities at balance date (2013: nil). 

The Group is not aware of any significant events occurring subsequent to balance date that have not been disclosed. 
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Note 36: Related Party Transactions
Key management personnel 

The key management personnel compensation (including Directors’ fees) is as follows: 

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  4,518  4,523  4,518  4,523 

Share based payments  -  63  -  63 

 4,518  4,586  4,518  4,586 

$870,000 of this amount was unpaid at 31 March 2014 (2013: $910,000).

All key management personnel participate in a cash settled, share based incentive scheme. This scheme was introduced in 2007 (refer to note 
37).

Subsidiaries

Advances have been made to/from subsidiaries (refer to note 22) and are payable on demand. These advances are not expected to be repaid in 
the coming year. Advances to New Zealand based subsidiaries are interest free while interest is charged to overseas based subsidiaries at a 
market rate. The net advances as disclosed in note 22 include the balances due to/from subsidiaries in respect of the following transactions.

The Parent has a lease contract with its subsidiary Tararua Wind Power Limited for the use of the subsidiary company’s generation assets. This 
commitment cannot be quantified because it is dependent on subsidiary asset valuations and capital expenditure.

The Parent has an insurance contract with its subsidiary Trustpower Insurance Limited which is renewed annually.

The impact of transactions with subsidiaries on the profit of the Parent and Group is shown below.

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Operating lease costs  -  -  (19,430)  (18,941)

Insurance costs  -  -  (2,826)  (2,685)

Interest revenue  -  -  3,689  2,425 

Impact on profit before income tax  -  -  (18,567)  (19,201)

Shareholders

The Group is controlled by Infratil Limited (incorporated in New Zealand) which owns 51.0% of the Company’s voting shares. The Tauranga 
Energy Consumer Trust owns 33.2% and the residual balance of 15.8% is widely held.

A related entity of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited manages Infratil Limited and M Bogoievski, a Director of Trustpower Limited, is the Chief 
Executive of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited. Infratil Limited is the parent of Trustpower Limited and $14,000 (2013: $8,000) was paid to H.R.L. 
Morrison & Co Limited and related entities during the year for consultancy services. As at 31 March 2014 no balance was outstanding (2013: 
nil). 

Consultancy fees of $11,000 (2013: $7,000) were paid to Lumo Energy Pty Ltd which is a subsidiary of the Group’s ultimate parent. As at 31 
March 2014 all of this amount was outstanding (2013: nil). 

Directors

All Directors participate in a share purchase plan where the Directors purchase shares in the Company to the value of half of their annual 
Directors’ fees. During the year all Directors purchased their shares directly from the Company at the average market price for the preceding 20 
business days from the treasury stock that the Company was holding. A total of 43,000 shares (2013: 36,000) were purchased for $298,000 
(2013: $290,000) (see note 14).

Mr RH Aitken, a Director of Trustpower Limited, is the Executive Chairman of the engineering firm Beca Limited. $165,000 was paid to Beca 
Limited for engineering services (2013: $281,000). As at 31 March 2014 $3,000 of this amount was unpaid (2013: $50,000).

Mr RWH Farron, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of Trustpower Limited, is a director of the engineering supplies firm BGH Group 
Limited and its New Zealand based subsidiaries. $18,000 has been charged by subsidiaries, Bay Engineers Supplies Limited and Hose Supplies 
New Zealand Limited (2013: $5,000). As at 31 March 2014 none of this amount was unpaid (2013: $1,000).

Other

Trustpower Limited owns 20.0% of the ordinary shares of Rangitata Diversion Race Management Limited (RDR) which owns and operates an 
irrigation canal in Canterbury. RDR’s operating and capital expenditure is funded by advances from its shareholders. In 2014 the Group advanced 
RDR nothing (2013: nil) and the total balance of the advance at 31 March 2014 was $1,884,000 (2013: $1,884,000). This balance is included in 
other investments in the statement of financial position.

Except as noted above, no transactions took place with related parties during the year. Other than interest free intercompany advances all 
transactions with related parties take place on an arms length basis. No related party debts were forgiven or written off during the year. Except as 
noted above there are no amounts outstanding at 31 March 2014 (2013: nil).

Note 37: Employee Share Based Compensation
Members of the Parent’s executive management team and certain other employees (together defined as key management personnel) are eligible 
to receive payment under a cash settled share based payment scheme. The scheme is defined as follows:

An incentive scheme for key management personnel of the Parent was implemented on 15 May 2009. This is a cash-settled share-based 
payment scheme covering a three-year period. Subsequently, each year on the 15th of May, a new tranche of the scheme has been issued and 
covers a period of three years from the issue date.

Key management personnel are eligible to receive a bonus payment at the end of the three year period of the scheme, the sum of which is 
determined by the total return on a notional number of allocated shares. The return is calculated as the sum of dividends paid by the Parent plus 
the increase in share price over the period. Payment is only made if a minimum return, set by the Board, is met. Additionally the scheme has a 
set maximum return above which no increase in the bonus is received by the participants. The total return is calculated for a three year period 
commencing on the 15th of May with reference to the average share price over the ten days prior to the scheme closing.

The fair value of the liability at 31 March 2014 has been determined by reference to the Parent’s current share price and expected dividends and 
share price movements with comparison to the share price at the start of the relevant period and adjusted to reflect the present value of these 
future expected cash flows.

For the year ended 31 March 2014 the total expense recognised in the income statement was $(99,000) (2013: $89,000) and the liability 
recognised in the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014 is nil (2013: $99,000).

Note 38: Business Combinations
On 1 July 2013, in order to grow its customer base and diversify its offering to include reticulated gas, the Group purchased the assets and 
liabilities of Energy Direct NZ Limited, an electricity and gas retailer, for a cash consideration of $17,101,000. The revenue included in the Group 
income statement since 1 July 2013 contributed by this business unit was $27,149,000. It also contributed profit of $1,229,000. Had this 
business unit been consolidated from 1 April 2013 the Group income statement would show pro-forma revenue of $36,199,000 and profit of 
$1,639,000. The assets and liabilities of the acquisition at the purchase date were as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Assets and Liabilities Acquired at Fair Value:

Cash at bank  63  -  63  - 

Accounts receivable and prepayments  3,651  -  3,651  - 

Property, plant and equipment  103  -  103  - 

Intangible customer base assets  14,897  -  14,897  - 

Goodwill with an indefinite life  4,171  -  4,171  - 

Accounts payable and accruals  (263)  -  (263)  - 

Electricity price derivative  (1,350)  -  (1,350)  - 

Deferred tax liability  (4,171)  -  (4,171)  - 

Net assets acquired  17,101  -  17,101  - 

Note 39: Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
Estimates and judgements are frequently evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, electricity price hedges) is determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions 
existing at the end of each reporting period. The Group has used discounted cash flow analysis for various electricity price hedges that are not 
traded in an active market. The forward curve is derived from a combination of market quoted prices and management’s best estimates. The 
discount rate is assumed as the counterparty’s cost of funds for the period of the instrument. See note 40 for sensitivity analysis.
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Note 39: (continued)

Electricity gross margin

Three key estimates are made when determining electricity gross margin. The accrual for all three factors is based on an estimate of unbilled 
units.

•   Revenue recognition 
An accrual is estimated for units sold but not billed at the end of the reporting period for non-half hourly metered customers. This estimate is 
based on units bought from the wholesale electricity market as well as historical factors. 

•   Line cost recognition 
Some electricity lines companies bill the Group based on the units and days that the Group has billed its customers while the remaining 
electricity lines companies bill the Group based on estimated total units and days. For the companies that base their bill on the Group’s 
customer billing, an accrual, similar to the revenue recognition accrual, is estimated for line charges incurred but not billed at the end of the 
reporting period.

•   Energy cost recognition 
An accrual is estimated for units that the Group believes it has consumed but has not yet been billed for by Energy Clearing House Limited. 
Significant judgement is required in making this determination.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated unbilled units had been 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/(decreased) by 
$393,000/$(393,000) (2013: (decreased)/increased by $(54,000)/$54,000).

Generation property, plant and equipment

The fair value of the Group’s generation property, plant and equipment is determined by the Board following an independent valuation 
undertaken at least every three years. This valuation is reviewed annually and if it is considered that there has been a material change then a new 
independent valuation is undertaken. The basis of the valuation is a discounted cash flow analysis of the future earnings of the assets. The major 
inputs that are used in the valuation model that require management judgement include the forward price path of electricity, sales volume 
forecasts, projected operational and capital expenditure profiles, discount rates and life assumptions for each generation station. The following 
table outlines the key assumptions used by Deloitte Corporate Finance in preparing the most recent valuation as at 31 March 2012. In all cases 
there is an element of judgement required. The table shows the range of reasonably possible alternative assumption values considered. The 
valuation is based on a combination of values that are generally in the midpoint of the range. The Group’s generation property, plant and 
equipment have been classified within the fair value hierarchy as level 3, see note 40 for a definition of the levels.

Assumption Low High Valuation Impact

New Zealand Assets

Forward electricity price path Decreasing in real terms  
from $98/MWh to $85/MWh  
by 2015 then constant.

Decreasing in real terms from  
$98/MWh to $85/MWh by 2015 then 
increasing to $95/MWh by 2020. 
Thereafter held constant.

-/+ $98,000,000

Generation volume 2,167 GWh 2,649 GWh -/+ $245,000,000

Operating costs $29,600,000 p.a. $32,600,000 p.a. +/- $38,000,000

Weighted average cost of capital 7.84% 8.34% +$82,000,000 / -$75,000,000

Australian Assets AUD

Forward electricity price path

(including renewable 
energy credits)

(Stated in AUD) Until 2018 
constant at $82 in real terms. 
After 2018 increasing to  
$105 by 2030 in real terms. 

(Stated in AUD) Until 2018 constant at  
$82 in real terms. After 2018 increasing  
to $115 with gradual increases to 
$125 by 2030 in real terms. 

-$11,000,000 / +$33,000,000 

Generation volume 350 GWh 428 GWh -/+ $30,000,000

Weighted average cost of capital 7.74% 8.24% +$6,000,000 / -$5,000,000

The valuation impact is calculated as the movement in the fair value as a result of the change in the assumption and keeping all other valuation 
inputs constant.

The following table presents the changes during the year of level 3 property, plant and equipment.

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Opening balance  2,482,456  2,488,312  1,880,991  1,881,000 

Disposals  (68)  (9)  (68)  (9)

Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  
within currency translation differences on revaluation reserve  (46,303)  (5,847)  68  - 

Closing balance  2,436,085  2,482,456  1,880,991  1,880,991 

Note 39: (continued)

Depreciation expense

A significant amount of management judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group’s generation assets for depreciation 
purposes. This is especially so for the Group’s longer lived assets.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of generation assets were 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/(decreased) by 
$5,581,000/$(6,822,000) (2013: $5,278,000/$(6,451,000)).

Amortisation expense

Management judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets for amortisation purposes.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of intangible assets were 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/decreased by 
$965,000/$(1,180,000) (2013: $721,000/$(881,000)).

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income taxes in New Zealand and Australia. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income 
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period 
in which such determination is made.

Provision against advances to subsidiaries

For subsidiaries involved in generation development, the Parent fully provides for advances made until such time as a viable project is identified 
and construction commences. This provision is the result of significant uncertainty that economic projects will be completed and that the 
advances will be recoverable.

Note 40: Financial Risk Management
Financial Risk Management Objectives

Trustpower’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: electricity price risk, interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management 
is carried out under policies approved by the Board.

(a)  Electricity Price Risk

  The Group typically sells more electricity at fixed prices than it generates. As a result the Group is required to purchase a percentage of its 
electricity sold off the electricity spot market. This leaves the Group exposed to fluctuations in the spot price of electricity where it sells electricity 
at a fixed price. The Group operates under an energy trading policy which limits the exposure the Group may have in any future period. Future 
exposure is estimated based on expected fixed price sales and generation output. The Group has entered into a number of electricity hedge 
contracts to reduce the commodity price risk from price fluctuations on the electricity spot market. These hedge contracts establish the price at 
which future specified quantities of electricity are purchased. Any resulting differential to be paid or received is recognised as a component of 
energy costs through the term of the contract. The Group has elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting to those instruments it deems 
material and which qualify as cash flow hedges while immaterial contracts are not hedge accounted. This risk management strategy assumes 
that the electricity wholesale markets in New Zealand and Australia, including the renewable energy credit market, that currently operate will 
continue to do so in the future. There is a possibility that future regulatory intervention may fundamentally alter the structure of these markets. 
The likelihood and potential impact of such a change is unquantifiable. However, such an occurrence would likely necessitate a change to the 
Group’s electricity price risk management policies and require a review of assets and liabilities held at fair value where electricity price is a key 
assumption in their value. 

  The aggregate notional volume of the outstanding electricity derivatives at 31 March 2014 was 836GWh (31 March 2013: 1,275GWh).

  The hedged anticipated electricity purchase transactions are expected to occur continuously throughout the next three years from the end of 
the reporting period consistent with the Group’s forecast electricity generation and retail electricity sales. Gains and losses recognised in the 
cash flow hedge reserve on electricity derivatives as of 31 March 2014 will be continuously released to the income statement in each period in 
which the underlying purchase transactions are recognised in the income statement.

 Sensitivity analysis

  The tables on the following page summarise the impact of increases/decreases of the relevant forward electricity prices on the Group’s post-tax 
profit for the year and on other components of equity. The sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that the relevant forward electricity 
prices had increased/decreased with all other variables held constant as a result of the fair value change in electricity price derivatives.
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Note 40: (continued)

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  1,499  447  1,499  447 

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  (1,499)  (447)  (1,499)  (447)

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  6,998  9,011  6,998  9,011 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  (6,998)  (9,011)  (6,998)  (9,011)

(b)  Interest Rate Risk

  The Group’s bank borrowings are all on floating interest rates exposing it to the risk that rising interest rates will increase the Group’s interest 
expense and, hence, reduce its profitability. The Group operates under a treasury policy which prescribes the proportion of fixed interest rate 
cover the Group must hold in relation to its future borrowings. This proportion is calculated based on the actual fixed rate cover held and the 
forecast debt levels of the Group. The Group has various interest rate financial instruments to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. 
Any resulting differential to be paid or received on the instruments is recognised as a component of interest paid. The Group has elected to 
hedge account only a limited number of these instruments.

  The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate derivative instruments at 31 March 2014 was $745,062,000 (31 
March 2013: $877,803,000).

  Interest payment transactions are expected to occur at various dates between one month and eight years from the end of the reporting period 
consistent with the Group’s forecast total borrowings.

 Weighted average interest rates for the Parent and the Group are disclosed in note 27.

 Sensitivity analysis

  At 31 March 2014, if interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for 
the year and other components of equity would have been adjusted by the amounts in the table below, as a result of the fair value change in 
interest rate derivative instruments.

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  (15,055)  (19,873)  (4,761)  (5,790)

Increase to profit of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates  15,151  19,058  4,615  5,484 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  (15,151)  (20,168)  (4,856)  (6,085)

Increase/ to equity of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates  15,244  19,344  4,708  5,770 

(c)  Exchange Rate Risk

  During the course of business the Group may enter into contracts for the construction of generation assets and the sale of carbon credits to be 
settled in a foreign currency in the future. This exposes the Group to movements in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates under a 
treasury policy which requires all foreign currency transactions over certain limits to be 100% hedged. Compliance with this policy is measured 
by forecasting future foreign currency transactions and ensuring that the exchange rate has been fixed. The Group enters into forward exchange 
contracts to reduce the risk from price fluctuations of foreign currency costs associated with the construction of property, plant and equipment 
or income associated with the sale of carbon credits. Any resulting differential to be paid or received is recognised as a component of the cost 
of the project for the construction of generation assets and as a part of revenue for the sale of carbon credits. The Group has elected to apply 
cash flow hedge accounting to these instruments. 

  The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2014 was $17,245,000 (31 
March 2013: $247,476,000).

  The hedged anticipated transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various dates between one month and one year 
from the end of the reporting period. Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity on forward foreign exchange 
contracts as at 31 March 2014 will be recycled to revenue from the sale of carbon credits when the credits are sold or to cost of property, plant 
and equipment when the assets are purchased.

 Sensitivity analysis

  At 31 March 2014, if the functional currency of the entities holding the forward foreign exchange contracts had weakened/strengthened by 10 
per cent against the currencies with which the Group has foreign currency risk with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year 
would not have been different.

  Other components of equity would have been $1,872,000/$(1,872,000) higher/(lower) (31 March 2013: $24,145,000/$(24,145,000) (lower)/
higher), arising from foreign exchange gains/losses on revaluation of foreign exchange contracts in a cash flow hedge relationship.

Note 40: (continued)

(d)  Credit Risk

  The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk (2013: none). It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with 
an appropriate credit history. Where a potential customer does not have a suitable credit history a bond is required before the customer is 
accepted. Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions with a minimum Standard & 
Poor’s long-term credit rating of A+ and other large electricity market participants (all have a Standard & Poor’s long-term credit rating of at least 
BBB). Where a potential counterparty does not meet these credit criteria the maximum level of credit exposure is set individually by the Board. 
The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any counterparty. 

  The carrying amounts of financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position best represents the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. Collateral is customer bond deposits held as cash 
- refer to note 26. This collateral reduces the exposure to credit risk by its nominal amount. As shown in note 20, the reported accounts 
receivable balance includes a provision for doubtful debts of $1,600,000 (2013: $1,700,000).

  The Group has around 227,000 customers (2013: 206,000), only four (2013: four) of which make up more than one per cent of the Group’s 
total accounts receivable balance. The largest of these customers accounts for three per cent (2013: four per cent) of the Group’s total 
accounts receivable.

  Included in other accounts payable and accruals is $826,000 (2013: $861,000) of bonds collected from customers who do not meet certain 
credit criteria.

  As of 31 March 2014, trade receivables relating to the Group and the Parent of $4,156,000 (2013: $3,955,000) were past due but not impaired. 
The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Up to 3 months  4,156  3,955  4,156  3,955 

 4,156  3,955  4,156  3,955 

As of 31 March 2014, trade receivables relating to the Group and the Parent of $1,600,000 (2013: $1,700,000) were past due and impaired. 
The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Up to 3 months  279  11  279  11 

Over 3 months  1,321  1,689  1,321  1,689 

 1,600  1,700  1,600  1,700 

For details of the receivables considered impaired refer to note 2.4.

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Opening balance  1,700  1,800  1,700  1,800 

Provision for receivables impairment 7  1,432  1,492  1,432  1,492 

Bad debts written off  (1,532)  (1,592)  (1,532)  (1,592)

Closing balance 20  1,600  1,700  1,600  1,700 
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Note 40: (continued)

(e) Liquidity Risk

 The Group’s ability to readily attract cost effective funding is largely driven by its credit standing.

  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities and the spreading of debt maturities. The Group operates under a treasury policy which dictates the level 
of available committed facility to be maintained to provide cover for reasonably conceivable adverse conditions. This is measured by forecasting 
debt levels under various adverse scenarios and comparing this to committed facility levels. The treasury policy also requires a spread of debt 
maturities which is measured by the proportion of debt maturing in various time bands. 

  The tables below analyse the Group’s and the Parent’s financial liabilities excluding gross settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period to the earliest possible contractual maturity date at the period end date. The amounts in the 
tables are contractual undiscounted cash flows.

GROUP Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  247  1,353  7,712  5,992 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  470  846  1,315  7,407 

Accounts payable and accruals  118,486  87  104  3,856 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  8,998  8,852  288,918 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  8,170  80,320  162,895 

Unsecured bank loans  -  13,542  5,628  714,044 

Total  119,203  32,996  103,931  1,183,112 

Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2013 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  71  1,019  6,073  10,950 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  491  3,579  3,267  19,426 

Accounts payable and accruals  116,009  87  104  4,064 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  11,343  65,871  306,768 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  8,170  8,170  254,235 

Unsecured bank loans  -  11,042  5,628  452,291 

Total  116,571  35,240  89,113  1,047,734 

PARENT Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  247  1,353  7,712  5,992 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  82  398  480  3,680 

Accounts payable and accruals  115,030  87  104  3,856 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  8,998  8,852  288,918 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  8,170  5,320  237,895 

Unsecured bank loans  -  7,677  5,628  133,626 

Total  115,359  26,683  28,096  673,967 

Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2013 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  71  1,019  6,073  10,950 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  298  1,391  1,689  13,046 

Accounts payable and accruals  112,609  87  104  4,064 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  11,343  65,871  306,768 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  8,170  8,170  254,235 

Unsecured bank loans  -  7,562  5,628  101,082 

Total  112,978  29,572  87,535  690,145 

Note 40: (continued)

The tables below analyse the Group’s and the Parent’s derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date at the period end date. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

GROUP Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  -  18,762  -  - 

(Outflows)  -  (16,130)  -  - 

Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2013 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  3,882  139,269  77,844  21,923 

(Outflows)  (2,529)  (141,057)  (79,793)  (22,743)

PARENT Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  -  -  -  - 

(Outflows)  -  -  -  - 

Less than 
1 month

1-6  
months

6-12 
months

Over  
1 year

At 31 March 2013 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  3,882  -  -  - 

(Outflows)  (2,529)  -  -  - 

Fair Values

Except for subordinated bonds and senior bonds (see notes 28 and 29), the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded 
in the financial statements approximates their fair values.

Estimation of Fair Values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

•   The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with 
reference to quoted market prices.

•   The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on market-quoted rates.

•   The fair value of derivative financial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, use is made of 
discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve or available forward price data for the duration of the instruments.

Where the fair value of a derivative is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the instrument, the two key types of 
variables used by the valuation techniques are:

•   forward price curve (as described on the following page); and

•   discount rates.
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Note 40: (continued)

Valuation Input Source

Interest rate forward price curve Published market swap rates.

Foreign exchange forward prices Published spot foreign exchange rates and interest rate differentials.

Electricity forward price curve Market quoted prices where available and management’s best 
estimate based on its view of the long run marginal cost of new 
generation where no market quoted prices are available.

Discount rate for valuing interest rate derivatives Published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of 
the instrument adjusted by the cost of credit of the counterparty for 
assets and the cost of credit of the Group for liabilities.

Discount rate for valuing forward foreign exchange contracts Published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of 
the instrument adjusted by the cost of credit of the counterparty for 
assets and the cost of credit of the Group for liabilities.

Discount rate for valuing electricity price derivatives Assumed counterparty cost of funds ranging from 4.1% to 5.2%

The selection of variables requires significant judgement and therefore there is a range of reasonably possible assumptions in respect of these 
variables that could be used in estimating the fair value of these derivatives. Maximum use is made of observable market data when selecting 
variables and developing assumptions for the valuation techniques. See earlier in this note for sensitivity analysis.

NZ IFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

•   Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

•   Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 
(that is, derived from prices) (level 2)

•   Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 assets or liabilities within the fair value hierarchy (2013: none).

The following tables present the Group’s and Parent’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value.

GROUP Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  4,271  -  4,271 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  2,587  2,587 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  2,781  -  2,781 

 -  7,052  2,587  9,639 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  9,315  -  9,315 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  7,558  7,558 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  9,315  7,558  16,873 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2013 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  5,288  -  5,288 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  1,488  1,488 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  2,395  -  2,395 

 -  7,683  1,488  9,171 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  22,628  -  22,628 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  14,862  14,862 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  2,237  -  2,237 

 -  24,865  14,862  39,727 

Note 40: (continued)

PARENT Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  2,906  -  2,906 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  2,587  2,587 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  -  -  - 

 -  2,906  2,587  5,493 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  4,146  -  4,146 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  7,558  7,558 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  4,146  7,558  11,704 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2013 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  4,558  -  4,558 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  1,488  1,488 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  1,346  -  1,346 

 -  5,904  1,488  7,392 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  13,431  -  13,431 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  14,862  14,862 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  13,431  14,862  28,293 

The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial  
assets

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities set  

off in the 
balance sheet

Net amounts  
of financial 

assets 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet

Related 
financial 

instruments  
not set off  

in the  
balance sheet Net amount

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP

As at 31 March 2014

Derivative financial assets  2,550  -  2,550  (1,712)  838 

 2,550  -  2,550  (1,712)  838 

As at 31 March 2013

Derivative financial assets  1,388  -  1,388  (297)  1,091 

 1,388  -  1,388  (297)  1,091 

PARENT

As at 31 March 2014

Derivative financial assets  2,550  -  2,550  (1,712)  838 

 2,550  -  2,550  (1,712)  838 

As at 31 March 2013

Derivative financial assets  1,388  -  1,388  (297)  1,091 

 1,388  -  1,388  (297)  1,091 
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Note 40: (continued)

The following tables present the changes during the year of the level 3 instruments being electricity price derivatives.

GROUP PARENT

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Assets per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  1,488  8,357  1,488  8,357 

Gains and (losses) recognised in profit or loss

 Realised in energy cost expense  4,275  (2,442)  4,275  (2,442)

 Unrealised  (3,176)  (4,427)  (3,176)  (4,427)

Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income

 Realised in energy cost expense  -  1,949  -  1,949 

 Unrealised  -  (1,949)  -  (1,949)

Closing balance  2,587  1,488  2,587  1,488 

Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profit  
or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period  1,679  1,447  1,679  1,447 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  14,862  4,207  14,862  4,207 

(Gains) and losses recognised in profit or loss

 Realised in energy cost expense  (2,068)  (6,349)  (2,068)  (6,349)

 Unrealised  5,942  (46)  5,942  (46)

(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income

 Realised in energy cost expense  (7,219)  (4,956)  (7,219)  (4,956)

 Unrealised  (3,959)  22,006  (3,959)  22,006 

Closing balance  7,558  14,862  7,558  14,862 

Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profit  
or loss for liabilities held at the end of the reporting period  4,407  14,383  14,383  14,383 

Settlements during the year  (3,959)  (794)  (3,959)  (794)

Electricity price derivatives are classified as Level 3 because the assumed location factors which are used to adjust the forward price path are 
unobservable.

A sensitivity analysis showing the effect on the value of the electricity price derivatives of reasonably possible alternative price path assumptions 
is shown in section (a) of this note.

Capital Risk Management Objectives

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total capital.

•   Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less short term deposits. Total borrowings are calculated using a value of unsecured bank loans 
plus unsecured subordinated and senior bonds.

•   Total capital funding is calculated as total equity as shown in the statement of financial position, adjusted for the fair value of financial 
instruments, plus net debt.

Note 40: (continued)

The gearing ratio is calculated below:

GROUP PARENT

Note
2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Net debt

Unsecured bank debt 27  722,520  460,192  142,102  108,983 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 28  238,211  292,375  238,211  292,375 

Unsecured senior bonds 29  213,498  212,838  213,498  212,838 

Cash and cash equivalents 19  (31,723)  (53,972)  (2,614)  (31,117)

 1,142,506  911,433  591,197  583,079 

Equity

Total equity  1,514,532  1,551,763  1,351,174  1,371,900 

Remove net effect of fair value of financial instruments after tax 17  (614)  9,390  1,333  8,559 

 1,513,918  1,561,153  1,352,507  1,380,459 

Total capital funding  2,656,424  2,472,586  1,943,704  1,963,538 

Gearing ratio 43% 37% 30% 30%
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Note 41: Financial Instruments by Category
GROUP Loans and

receivables
Assets at 
fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

 Assets 
held 

 to 
maturity 

$000 $000 $000 $000

31 March 2014

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  6,858  2,781  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  126,773  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  31,723  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  800  -  -  - 

Term receivables  764  -  -  - 

Other investments  -  -  -  1,892 

 160,060  6,858  2,781  1,892 

31 March 2013

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  6,775  2,396  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  133,346  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  53,972  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  995  -  -  - 

Term receivables 3,051 - - -

Other investments  -  -  -  2,420 

 191,364  6,775  2,396  2,420 

Liabilities 
at fair 
value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

Other 
financial
liabilities  

at
amortised

cost
$000 $000 $000

31 March 2014

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  722,520 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  238,211 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  213,498 

Derivative financial instruments  14,219  2,654  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  126,285 

 14,219  2,654  1,300,514 

31 March 2013

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  460,192 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  292,375 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  212,838 

Derivative financial instruments  23,179  16,548  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  124,527 

 23,179  16,548  1,089,932 

Note 41: (continued)

PARENT Loans and
receivables

Assets at 
fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

 Assets 
held 

 to 
maturity 

$000 $000 $000 $000

31 March 2014

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  5,493  -  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  115,726  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,614  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  800  -  -  - 

Other investments  -  -  -  1,892 

Advances to subsidiaries  117,262  -  -  - 

 236,402  5,493  -  1,892 

31 March 2013

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  6,046  1,346  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  127,350  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  31,117  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  995  -  -  - 

Other investments  -  -  -  1,892 

Advances to subsidiaries  130,553  -  -  - 

 290,015  6,046  1,346  1,892 

Liabilities 
at fair 
value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

Other 
financial
liabilities  

at
amortised

cost
$000 $000 $000

31 March 2014

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  142,102 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  238,211 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  213,498 

Derivative financial instruments  9,050  2,654  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  121,817 

 9,050  2,654  715,628 

31 March 2013

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  108,983 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  292,375 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  212,838 

Derivative financial instruments  13,982  14,311  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  119,850 

 13,982  14,311  734,046 
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Statutory Information
Interests Register
The Company is required to maintain an Interests Register in which particulars of certain transactions and matters 
involving the Directors must be recorded.

The matters set out below were recorded in the Interests Register of the Company during the financial year.

General Notice of Interest by Directors
The Directors of the Company have declared interests in the following identified entities as at 31 March 2014.

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker Director Trustpower Metering Limited
Director Morrison Capital Limited
Director Surveylab Group Limited
Director Z Energy Limited

Richard Hammond Aiken Executive Chairman Beca Group Limited
Director Beca Group Subsidiaries
Director John Scotts Investment Limited
Director Auckland Council Property Limited

Marko Bogoievski Chairman Aotea Energy Holdings Limited
Director Aotea Energy Holdings Limited Subsidiaries
Director Z Energy Limited
Director Infratil Limited and certain Infratil Limited Subsidiaries
Chief Executive Infratil Limited
Director HRL Morrison & Co and certain subsidiaries
Director Zig Zag Farm Limited 

Michael James Cooney Trustee Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust
Director TECT Holdings Limited 
Consultant Cooney Lees & Morgan 
Director Trustpower Australia (New Zealand) Limited
Director Trustpower Insurance Limited
Director Tararua Wind Power Limited
Director Energy Direct NZ Limited

Ian Samuel Knowles Chairman OnBrand Limited
Chairman Unlimited Realities Limited
Chairman Partners Life Limited 
Director SLI Systems Limited
Director Angel HQ Inc 
Director Rangitira Limited
Director Synlait Milk Limited
Trustee Te Omanga Hospice
Trustee United World College NZ

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier Director Farrier Swier Consulting Pty Ltd
Director Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Director Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Director Trustpower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
Director Trustpower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd
Director Trustpower Market Services Pty Ltd
Director Snowtown Wind Farm Stage 2 Pty Ltd
Director Snowtown South Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Director Dundonnell Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Director Wingeel Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Director Church Lane Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Director Salt Creek Wind Farm Pty Ltd

Information used by Directors
During the financial year there were no notices from Directors of the Company requesting to disclose or use Company 
information received in their capacity as Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.

Directors Holding Office and their Remuneration
No Directors were appointed or ceased to hold office during the year to 31 March 2014.

The Directors holding office as at 31 March 2014 and during the year to 31 March 2014 are listed below. The total amount 
of the remuneration and other benefits received by each Director during the financial year, and responsibility held, is listed 
next to their names.

Director Remuneration Responsibility Held

Bruce James Harker $165,000 Chairman
Non-executive Director
Member of Audit and Risk Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee
Member of Share Buyback Committee

Michael James Cooney $80,000 Non-executive Director
Member of Share Buyback Committee

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier $125,000 Independent Director
Chairman of Audit and Risk Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee

Richard Hammond Aitken $80,000 Independent Director

Ian Samuel Knowles $90,000 Independent Director
Member of Audit and Risk Committee
Member of Share Buyback Committee

Marko Bogoievski $80,000 Non-executive Director

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Executives
During the financial year the Company paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and certain executive employees’ 
liability insurance, as permitted by the Company’s Constitution and the Companies Act 1993. The policies do not specify 
the premium for individuals. This insurance extends to Directors and certain executive employees acting in the capacity of 
a director or on behalf of a subsidiary or related company.

The Directors’ and executive employees’ liability insurance provides cover against costs and expenses involved in defending 
legal actions and any resulting payments arising from a liability to persons (other than the Company or a related body 
corporate) incurred in their capacity as director or executive employee unless the conduct involves a wilful breach of duty 
or an improper use of inside information or position to gain advantage.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity in respect of each Director, the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer 
and Company Secretary, General Manager Strategy and Growth, General Manager Generation, General Manager 
Commercial Operations, General Manager Trading, and General Manager Business Solutions and Technology whereby each 
such director and executive employee is indemnified against the types of liability and costs described above, as permitted 
by the Company’s Constitution and the Companies Act 1993.
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Subsidiary Company Directors
Set out below are details of the Directors of Trustpower’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2014. 

Director as at 31 March 2014 Trustpower Group Company

Bruce James Harker Trustpower Metering Limited
Michael James Cooney Tararua Wind Power Limited

Trustpower Insurance Limited
Trustpower Australia (New Zealand) Limited
Energy Direct NZ Limited

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier Trustpower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
Trustpower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd
Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Trustpower Market Services Pty Ltd
Snowtown Wind Farm Stage 2 Pty Ltd
Snowtown South Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Dundonnell Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Wingeel Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Church Lane Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Salt Creek Wind Farm Pty Ltd

Vincent James Hawksworth Tararua Wind Power Limited
Trustpower Metering Limited
Trustpower Australia (New Zealand) Limited
Trustpower Insurance Limited
Bay Energy Limited
Energy Direct NZ Limited
Trustpower Market Services Pty Ltd
Trustpower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
Trustpower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd
Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Snowtown Wind Farm Stage 2 Pty Ltd
Snowtown South Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Dundonnell Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Wingeel Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Church Lane Wind Farm Pty Ltd
Salt Creek Wind Farm Pty Ltd

No directors’ fees or other benefits were paid in relation to these directorships during the financial year. The remuneration 
and other benefits received by employees acting as directors of subsidiaries during the financial year is disclosed in the 
relevant bandings for employee remuneration. 

General Notice of Interests by Directors of Subsidiary Companies

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker*
Michael James Cooney*
Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier*
Vincent James Hawksworth Chief Executive Trustpower Limited

*Refer General Notice of Interests by Directors

Information used by Directors of Subsidiaries
During the financial year there were no notices from directors of subsidiary companies requesting to disclose or use 
subsidiary company information received in their capacity as directors which would not otherwise have been available to 
them.

Employee Remuneration
During the financial year the number of employees or former employees (including employees holding office as directors of 
subsidiaries) who received remuneration and other benefits in their capacity as employees of the Company, the value of 
which was or exceeded $100,000 per annum was as follows:

Remuneration Ranges Number of Employees

$100,000 – 109,999 17
$110,000 – 119,999 9
$120,000 – 129,999 14
$130,000 – 139,999 4
$140,000 – 149,999 8
$150,000 – 159,999 3
$160,000 – 169,999 2
$170,000 – 179,999 4
$180,000 – 189,999 3
$190,000 – 199,999 2
$200,000 – 209,999 -
$210,000 – 219,999 4
$220,000 – 229,999 -
$230,000 – 239,999 4
$240,000 – 249,999 -
$250,000 – 259,999 1
$260,000 – 269,999 3
$310,000 – 319,999 1
$320,000 – 329,999 1
$380,000 – 389,999 1
$460,000 – 469,999 1
$500,000 – 509,999 1
$600,000 – 609,999 1
$620,000 – 629,999 1
$1,350,000 – 1,359,999 1

Directors’ Transactions and Relevant Interests in Securities of the Company
The relevant interests of Directors in securities of the Company as at 31 March 2014 are listed below together with 
transactions by Directors in securities of the Company during the financial year.

Director

Number  
Acquired/ 

(Disposed)

$ Amount 
Paid/ 

(Received) Date
Class of 
Security

Number  
Held at  

31 March 2014

Number  
Held at  

31 March 2013

BJ and JS Harker Family Trust 
(beneficial) Bonds 150,000 150,000

4,877 36,255 1 July 2013 Shares
6,218 41,251 6 December 2013 Shares 56,041 44,946

RH Aitken (beneficial) 2,522 18,748 1 July 2013 Shares
3,015 20,002 6 December 2013 Shares 16,955 11,418

MJ Cooney (beneficial) 2,522 18,748 1 July 2013 Shares
3,015 20,002 6 December 2013 Shares 28,417 22,880

MJ Cooney (non-beneficial) - - - Bonds 150,000 150,000
MJ Cooney (non-beneficial) - - - Shares 103,878,838 103,878,838
IS Knowles (beneficial) (100,000) N/A October 2013 Bonds - 100,000
IS Knowles (beneficial) 2,859 21,253 1 July 2013 Shares

3,392 22,503 6 December 2013 Shares 30,766 24,515
Maclagen Pty Ltd as Trustee 
for the Swier Family Trust 
(beneficial) 

3,976 29,557 1 July 2013 Shares

4,710 31,247 6 December 2013 Shares 47,251 38,565
M Bogoievski (beneficial) 2,522 18,748 1 July 2013 Shares

3,015 20,002 6 December 2013 Shares 15,697 10,160

The non-beneficial shares recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as a joint shareholder of the registered holder of 
those shares (being TECT Holdings Limited) as a trustee of Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust for whom those shares are 
held.

The non-beneficial bonds recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as Trustee for an estate and a private trust.

The shares held beneficially by MJ Cooney include shares held in own name and via a family trust.

The interests disclosed as bonds for IS Knowles are with respect to his position as executor and beneficiary of a family 
estate. IS Knowles no longer has an interest in these bonds as they were transferred to another beneficiary during the year.

The Company was not advised of any other security transactions by any Director during the year.
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Security Holder Information
Substantial Security Holders
The Company’s register of substantial security holders, prepared in accordance with Section 35C of the Securities Markets 
Act 1988 recorded the following information as at 28 April 2014.

Security Holder Class of Security Number

Infratil Limited Shares 159,215,388
TECT Holdings Limited Shares 103,878,838

As at 28 April 2014, Trustpower Limited had 315,751,872 ordinary shares on issue. A total of 2,869,477 ordinary shares were 
held as treasury stock as at 28 April 2014.

Spread of Holders as at 28 April 2014
Shares Holders % Shares %

1 to 999 1,509 11.99% 724,004 0.23%
1,000 to 1,999 2,046 16.26% 2,483,324 0.79%
2,000 to 4,999 7,920 62.93% 18,706,529 5.92%
5,000 to 9,999 714 5.67% 4,591,123 1.45%
10,000 to 49,999 351 2.79% 5,745,903 1.82%
50,000 to 99,999 15 0.12% 1,042,712 0.33%
100,000 to 499,999 16 0.13% 3,440,693 1.09%
500,000 to 999,999 5 0.04% 3,713,594 1.18%
1,000,000 plus 9 0.07% 275,303,990 87.19%

12,585 100.00% 315,751,872 100.00%

Subordinated Bonds Holders % Subordinated Bonds %

1 to 999 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
1,000 to 1,999 1 0.02% 1,000 0.00%
2,000 to 4,999 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
5,000 to 9,999 609 13.01% 3,406,000 1.42%
10,000 to 49,999 3,176 67.83% 62,863,000 26.19%
50,000 to 99,999 609 13.01% 35,501,000 14.79%
100,000 to 499,999 250 5.34% 37,426,000 15.59%
500,000 to 999,999 15 0.32% 9,494,000 3.96%
1,000,000 plus 22 0.47% 91,309,000 38.05%

4,682 100.00% 240,000,000 100.00%

Senior Bonds Holders % Senior Bonds %

1 to 999 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
1,000 to 1,999 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
2,000 to 4,999 1 0.03% 2,000 0.00%
5,000 to 9,999 445 12.05% 2,436,000 1.14%
10,000 to 49,999 2,522 68.31% 48,744,000 22.67%
50,000 to 99,999 445 12.05% 24,554,000 11.42%
100,000 to 499,999 245 6.64% 35,627,000 16.57%
500,000 to 999,999 13 0.35% 7,979,000 3.71%
1,000,000 plus 21 0.57% 95,658,000 44.49%

3,692 100.00% 215,000,000 100.00%

Shares Holders % Shares %

New Zealand 12,309 97.81% 312,997,244 99.13%
Australia 195 1.54% 1,726,994 0.54%
United Kingdom 21 0.17% 57,703 0.02%
United States of America 19 0.15% 29,732 0.01%
Other 41 0.33% 940,199 0.30%

12,585 100.00% 315,751,872 100.00%

Subordinated Bonds Holders % Subordinated Bonds %

New Zealand 4,634 98.98% 236,634,000 98.60%
Australia 11 0.24% 1,698,000 0.71%
United Kingdom 10 0.22% 113,000 0.05%
United States of America 11 0.23% 339,000 0.14%
Other 16 0.33% 1,216,000 0.50%

4,682 100.00% 240,000,000 100.00%

Senior Bonds Holders % Senior Bonds %

New Zealand 3,656 99.02% 211,231,000 98.25%
Australia 9 0.24% 2,084,000 0.97%
United Kingdom 1 0.03% 15,000 0.01%
United States of America 10 0.27% 534,000 0.25%
Other 16 0.44% 1,136,000 0.52%

3,692 100.00% 215,000,000 100.00%

Voting Rights
Every shareholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, on a vote by voices or a show of hands has one vote, 
and on a poll has one vote for each fully paid share held. Shares held as treasury stock do not have voting rights.

Stock Exchange Listing
The Company’s shares are listed on the NZSX and its senior and subordinated bonds are listed on the NZDX.

Current Credit Rating Status
Trustpower does not currently have an external credit rating.

Defined Share Buyback Programme
At the 2011 Annual Meeting of the Company held on 28 July 2011, an ordinary resolution was passed to authorise the 
buyback by the Company of up to 5 million of its shares, being less than 2% of the total number of its shares, by way of 
offers made through NZX’s order matching market during the period of 36 months following the Annual Meeting (Defined 
Share Buyback Programme).  It was noted that such acquisitions may result in the percentage of voting shares held or 
controlled by TECT Holdings Limited (TECT) in the Company, increasing in aggregate by a maximum of 0.54% above the 
percentage held or controlled by TECT immediately before the first share buyback effected after the commencement of 
the Defined Share Buyback Programme.

As at 31 March 2014:

  (a) the Company has acquired 1,698,513 shares under the Defined Share Buyback Programme Buyback;

  (b) the number of Trustpower voting shares on issue that were held or controlled by TECT was 103,878,838  
   shares which represented 33.19% of all Trustpower voting shares on issue;

  (c) the percentage of all Trustpower voting shares on issue that were held or controlled, in aggregate, by TECT  
   and TECT’s associates was 33.19%;

  (d) the maximum percentage of all Trustpower voting shares on issue that could be held or controlled by TECT  
   if the Company acquired the approved maximum number of Trustpower shares is 33.54%;

  (e) the maximum percentage of all Trustpower voting shares on issue that would be held or controlled, in  
   aggregate, by TECT and TECT’s associates if the Company acquired the approved maximum number of  
   Trustpower shares is 33.54%.

The following assumptions have been applied for the purposes of providing the above particulars:

  (f) the number of Trustpower voting shares is the number of Trustpower voting shares on issue on 
   31 March 2014;

  (g) there is no change in the total number of Trustpower voting shares on issue between 31 March 2014 and  
   28 July 2014, being the end of the buyback period, other than as a result of the Defined Share 
   Buyback Programme;

  (h) TECT and Infratil Limited do not participate in the Defined Share Buyback Programme; and

  (i) the Company acquires the approved maximum number of its own shares.

Current NZX Waivers
There are no current NZ Waivers.

NZX Disciplinary Action
There has been no action taken by NZX in relation to the Company under Listing Rule 5.4.2.
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trustpower@trustpower.co.nz

 
Postal Address
Private Bag 12023 
Tauranga Mail Centre 
Tauranga 3143 
Telephone: 07 572 9800 
Facsimile: 07 572 9825

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
188 Quay Street 
Auckland 1142

 
Share Registrar
Computershare Investor Services Limited 
159 Hurstmere Road 
Takapuna 
Private Bag 92119 
Auckland 1142 
Telephone: 09 488 8700 
Facsimile: 09 488 8787

 
Shareholders with enquiries about transactions, change 
of address or dividend payments should contact the Share 
Registrar.

 
Stock Exchange Listing
New Zealand Exchange Limited 
Level 2 NZX Centre 
11 Cable Street 
Wellington 6011

Annual Meeting   25 July 2014

First quarter operating information   25 July 2014

Payment September bond interest   15 September 2014

Half year announcement   30 October 2014 

Record date interim dividend   28 November 2014 

Payment interim dividend   12 December 2014

Payment December bond interest   15 December 2014

Third quarter operating information   30 January 2015

Payment of March bond interest   16 March 2015

Full year announcement  15 May 2015

Record date of final dividend   29 May 2015

Payment of final dividend   12 June 2015

Payment of June bond interest   15 June 2015

Annual report due   30 June 2015

Directory

Financial Calendar
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Largest Security Holders (as at 28 April 2014)
Rank Holder Name Shares %

1 Infratil Limited 159,742,389 50.58%
2 TECT Holdings Limited 103,878,838 32.89%
3 New Zealand Superannuation Fund Nominees Limited* 2,630,145 0.83%
4 BNP Paribas Nominees (NZ) Limited* 2,377,651 0.75%
5 Accident Compensation Corporation* 1,816,655 0.57%
6 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 1,636,541 0.51%
7 Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited* 1,235,067 0.39%
8 National Nominees New Zealand Limited* 868,671 0.27%
9 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 816,687 0.25%
10 TEA Custodians Limited* 581,409 0.18%
11 Custodial Services Limited A/C 18 574,054 0.18%
12 Custodial Services Limited A/C 4 403,228 0.12%
13 FNZ Custodians Limited 362,860 0.11%
14 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1-33 329,417 0.10%

15
Brett Anthony Hart & Lynn Marion Fitness & Judith Louise Burney (Whakaaro 
Account)

285,000 0.09%

16 Brett Anthony Hart 270,000 0.08%
17 New Zealand Depository Nominee Limited A/C 1 233,897 0.07%
18 Custodial Services Limited A/C 1 210,479 0.06%
19 Custodial Services Limited A/C 16 195,916 0.06%
20 New Zealand Permanent Trustees Limited* 195,146 0.06%

278,644,050 88.15%
*These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited. 

Rank Holder Name Subordinated Bonds %

1 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 18,848,000 7.85%
2 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1-33 9,868,000 4.11%
3 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 9,224,000 3.84%
4 FNZ Custodians Limited 8,285,000 3.45%
5 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1-17.5 5,871,000 2.45%
6 Investment Custodial Services Limited A/C C 5,186,000 2.16%
7 Custodial Services Limited A/C 18 4,851,000 2.02%
8 Custodial Services Limited A/C 4 3,340,000 1.39%
9 Custodial Services Limited A/C 1 3,327,000 1.39%
10 BNP Paribas Nominees (NZ) Limited* 3,310,000 1.38%
11 Eastern Central Community Trust Inc 2,750,000 1.15%
12 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1-30 2,527,000 1.05%
13 NZPT Custodians (Grosvenor) Limited* 2,033,000 0.85%
14 New Zealand Methodist Trust Association 2,000,000 0.83%
15 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited Account 1 E 1,825,000 0.76%
16 Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited* 1,471,000 0.61%
17 Custodial Services Limited A/C 16 1,291,000 0.54%
18 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1-28 1,227,000 0.51%

19
Lynette Therese Erceg & Darryl Edward Gregory & Catherine Agnes Quinn (Saint 
Jude’s A/C)

1,075,000 0.45%

20 Carter Holt Harvey Retirement Plan 1,000,000 0.42%
89,309,000 37.21%

* These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited. 
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